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THE STORY 
OF NATTOPHARMA

Our Oslo office is located at Lysaker, a flourishing corporate district.

NattoPharma seek to advance global health by creating sci-

entifically validated products and technologies that deliver 

measurable benefits. We are a sought-after partner because 

of our unwavering commitment to validated quality.

NattoPharma continues to build its competitive advantage 

through focus on IPR and has patents related to relevant 

health benefits and market segments, creating extra value 

for our customers.

The discovery of a vitamin led to the creation of NattoPhar-

ma, a company that plans to change the world.

Researchers discovered those who eat a lot of a Vitamin K2 

have stronger bones and more flexible arteries, ultimately 

enjoying healthier lives. By creating MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 as 

MK-7 we have driven this discovery, providing a vital nutrient 

to the world.

HEALTH 
IN FOCUSFrom the beginning, NattoPharma has been sponsoring re-

search proving MenaQ7’s benefits for human health. Pub-

lished human studies confirm this in both children and adults. 

Yet the work continues, with even more studies underway.

We’re not just looking to the future, we aim to shape it. Nat-

toPharma is creating superior products, backed by science, 

meeting the needs of an ever-changing market. With reputa-

ble, visionary partners around the world, we are well on our 

way to reinforce the state of global health.

As the undisputed leader in clinical understanding and sci-

ence, NattoPharma’s ongoing investment in ground-break-

ing research allows us to identify novel health benefits and 

open up new market opportunities for our partners. This in-

vestment has made our brand the first validated K2 on the 

market.
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101.7 6.652%

Operating Revenue EBITDA (Adj.)Revenue Growth

6.5 1.7 74.5%

Cash Flow from Operations Net Profit Equity Ratio

EBITDA (Adj.) (NOK mill.)

2018 2017*) 2016*) 2015 2014

Revenues (NOK 1000)

Sales Revenue 101 722 66 418 51 830 31 687 25 392 

Earnings (NOK 1000)

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA (Adj.)) 6 652 5 269 484 -31 194 -18 500 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 5 070 2 758 -1 464 -31 194 -18 500 

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) -2 208 -4 606 -8 361 -37 023 -23 982 

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 1 047 -4 759 -11 159 -32 243 -21 851 

Earnings After Tax 1 677 -4 080 -10 503 -31 568 -21 221 

Profitability

Gross Margin Sales Revenue 43.1% 47.3% 44.2% 28.0% 29.5%

EBITDA (Adj.) Margin 6.5% 7.9% 0.9% -98.4% -72.9%

EBITDA Margin 5.0% 4.2% -2.8% -98.4% -72.9%

Profit Margin 1.6% -6.2% -20.3% -99.6% -83.6%

Return on Equity (ROE) 1.5% -3.7% -13.8% -34.0% -28.0%

Cash Flow from Operations (NOK 1000) 6 488 -11 229 -4 937 -24 734 -24 971 

Net Cash Flow (NOK 1000) 5 096 -6 260 -4 943 11 660 -8 817 

Balance Sheet (NOK 1000)

Total Assets 147 324 157 193 96 347 108 719 88 753 

Equity 109 742 111 004 76 207 92 802 75 719 

Equity Ratio 74.5 % 70.6% 79.1% 85.4% 85.3%

Cash Balance 18 655 13 558 19 818 24 761 13 101 

Interest-Bearing Debt 0 0 0 0 0

The Share

Share Price at December 31st (NOK) 8.10 9.10 9.09 7.95 9.95 

Number of Issued Shares as at December 31st (NOK 1000) 18 180 18 130 17 570 17 140 13 569 

Market Value (NOK 1000) 147 257 164 982 159 711 136 262 135 007 

Earnings per Share (NOK) 0.10 -0.23 -0.60 -1.84 -1.56 

Diluted Earnings per Share (NOK) 0.09 -0.21 -0.60 -1.84 -1.56 

*) Pro-forma after spin-off of pharma business into Kaydence Pharma AS in 2017
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The annual growth rate of 53% was ahead of the previously 

guided 40-50%. Cash management in a high growth envi-

ronment can be particularly challenging and was therefore 

designated as one of our top priorities. A cash balance in-

crease of NOK 5.1 million demonstrates our success in this 

endeavour. 

2018 was also the first ever full year where we delivered 

a positive net profit, ending at NOK 1.68 million. These re-

sults are a direct consequence of our ability to focus all our 

resources on commercialization and sales growth within 

the dietary supplement/nutraceutical segments. This has 

been possible due to the spin-off of the pharma division to 

Kaydence Pharma in December 2017. 

The upward trend in adjusted EBITDA, which was NOK 6.6 

million for the full year, illustrates the transformation pro-

cess that has taken place since late 2015 and allows us to 

invest in the future growth of our business.

Through 2018 we have dedicated time and resources to 

building an organization which has the right mix of capa-

bilities to support and drive our growth. This is apparent in 

the increase in personnel cost as a result of key appoint-

ments to the senior management team. Whilst we antici-

pate further additions to our headcount in the future, these 

will be at an operational level. The focus will shift to role 

clarification and the continued implementation of stan-

dards, systems and processes required for us to perform 

exceptionally across all areas of business. Our focus in 2019 

is to build a strong corporate culture for delivering excel-

lence.

We have also invested in the mitigation of supply chain 

challenges, which we’ve continued to face, and as a result 

we are now less exposed to single production lines or geo-

graphic locations. During 2018 we initiated a development 

project for our synthetic production, which completed its 

first phase very successfully. We can now see the path to 

achieving higher yields and reduced costs. This project will 

continue in 2019 and we strongly believe that the time 

and financial resources invested in this will help maintain 

product margins and our leading position in the Vitamin 

K2 market.

Finally, we were excited to be able to announce the ex-

pansion of our product portfolio as we will take on a new 

ingredient in cooperation with highly dedicated partners, 

namely Inventia Healthcare Ltd. and Laila Nutraceuticals.

This collaboration provides NattoPharma with exclusive 

rights in core markets to a new, proprietary ingredient with 

benefits in the robust mood and energy segments. This in-

gredient is supported by a unique composition of actives 

and proprietary novel technology, and IP is pending and 

being developed to bolster and protect these. In line with 

our commitment to a clinically validated portfolio, human 

bioactivity and clinical research is being undertaken to val-

idate the benefits of this new ingredient, which upon com-

pletion will be ready to be marketed late this year.

We are truly pleased with our performance during 2018. 

Looking forward to 2019, we are excited about NattoPhar-

ma’s future potential in the K2 marketplace, as we contin-

ue to develop our pipeline of new ingredients and launch 

new products.

Dear shareholders, customers, partners and employees, I 

would like to take this opportunity to thank you all for your 

continued commitment and investment in NattoPharma. 

Looking back at 2018, a year of opportunities and challeng-

es, I am proud that we were also able to make it a year of 

significant progress and accomplishment. Together, we de-

livered the best financial results in the history of the com-

pany and initiated key processes to deliver organisational 

excellence.

The K2 market is continuing to experience significant 

growth as consumer awareness of K2 and its health ben-

efits increases. At the same time, we are starting to see a 

shift towards mass market volume business, with some 

regional commoditization and price pressure in certain ge-

ographies. As the only complete vitamin K2 provider, offer-

ing a clinically validated product range including natural, 

synthetic and Full Spectrum, NattoPharma is uniquely po-

sitioned to capture a considerable share of this growth. Our 

continued dedication to understanding the science of vita-

min K2 enables us to validate beneficial outcomes beyond 

bone and heart health and innovate delivery methods to 

achieve even greater product reach. The endgame is to see 

our Vitamin K2 become a staple ingredient in all multi-vita-

min formulas, replacing Vitamin K1 in dietary supplements, 

dairy, functional foods and beverages.

By continuing to foster and develop strong relationships 

with brand owners we believe in our unique insight into 

specific market needs, facilitating customized offers and a 

promise to be the partner of choice.

2018 saw us hit several milestones in financial performance. 

We continued our consistent revenue growth, exceeding 

NOK 100 million for the full year, with best-ever results for a 

quarter (~31 million) and single month (~16 million). 

Our focus is to build a strong coporate culture for delivering excellence.

A VISION OF GROWTH
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Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the primary cause of 

death globally according to the World Health Organization.

One of the areas gaining recognition as a cardiovascular risk 

marker is atherosclerosis, which is a disease in which plaque 

builds up inside the arteries.

By activating proteins already present in the body, Osteocal-

cin and Matrix Gla Protein (MGP) respectively, K2 binds calci-

um to the bones while stopping it from depositing in arteries 

and soft tissues.

NattoPharma’s clinical research has not only confirmed the 

mechanism of Vitamin K2, but also illuminated the fact that 

compromised bone and cardiovascular health are not simply 

byproducts of aging. Rather, these conditions are a clear indi-

cation of a vitamin deficiency.

By correcting this deficiency, global health can truly be im-

proved, and NattoPharma delivers the clinically validated and 

patented Vitamin K2 as MK-7 that can make that dream a re-

ality.

Both bone and cardiovascular health are dictated by how the 

body utilizes calcium. Ideally the body will bind calcium to 

the bone mineral matrix, making stronger, denser bones. But 

if left unattended, calcium does not make it from the blood-

stream to our bones. Rather, it will deposit in arteries, blood 

vessels, and soft tissues, increasing risks for developing car-

diovascular diseases.

Over time, plaque (primarily made up of calcium) hardens 

and narrows the arteries. This limits the flow of oxygen-rich 

blood to your organs and other parts of the body.

Further, osteoporosis affects approximately 75 million people 

in Europe, USA and Japan, according the International Osteo-

porosis Foundation, and more recently, one study estimated 

that it affects 200 million people all across the globe. Finland 

and other Scandinavian countries have very high rates of os-

teoporosis. It is estimated that 400 000 Fins have osteoporosis 

and the population experiences up to 40 000 fractures a year.

Yet few realize how integrally linked bone and cardiovascular 

health are, or that we can reduce risks for developing prob-

lems by simply obtaining adequate daily amounts of an es-

sential vitamin: Vitamin K2.

Vitamin K activates proteins that play a role in blood clotting, calcium metabolism 
and heart health. The initial discovery was reported in a German scientific journal, 
where it was called “Koagulationsvitamin” — which is where the “K” comes from.

BLOOD AND BONE
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Among these,

were due to heart attack and stroke.

An estimated

people lost their lives to CVDs in 2016,

of all casualties worldwide.

World Health Organization

17.9 million 

31%

85%

To this great problem of our time,

seeks to provide a solution.

NattoPharma
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NattoPharma ASA is a B2B company with worldwide sales 

rights for vitamin K2. NattoPharma ASA operates out of its 

head office in Oslo, Norway, and has subsidiaries in the US 

and Cyprus, as well as sales representatives in Europe and Asia. 

Companies seek NattoPharma as a partner because they rec-

ognize creating quality products mean starting with the best 

possible raw materials. Since 2004 NattoPharma has been - 

and still is - the global pioneer and driver of vitamin K2 re-

search and product development. The brand, MenaQ7®, has 

been positioned as the leading global brand in the vitamin 

K2 dietary supplement segment, being the only truly clinical-

ly validated and patented Vitamin K2 as MK-7 on the market.  

 

NattoPharma sells both natural and synthetically produced 

vitamin K2 as MK7 to both manufacturers and distributors of 

finished products as nutritional supplements and enriched 

foods (i.e., functional foods). The company has developed 

and applied a unique method of synthesizing a vitamin K2 

that is chemically identical to vitamin K2 naturally produced 

by fermentation. The advantage of the chemically manufac-

tured product, in addition to lower production costs, is that 

it contains less impurities from production than vitamin K2 

produced by fermentation. In the United States, MenaQ7® 

Vitamin K2 is also sold as medical food (i.e., food specially 

adapted to specific nutritional needs).

NattoPharma offers the expertise necessary to bring products 

from vision to reality, working in tandem with customers to 

understand their specific formulation needs and recommend 

the most effective and robust K2 solution for any desired ap-

plication. In addition to creating products and technologies 

driven by science, NattoPharma offers unparalleled support 

to its partners, ensuring their success communicating their 

value to a crowded marketplace. 

In using NattoPharma’s clinically validated materials, partners 

can aggressively market their products with approved claims. 

NattoPharma has partners across the globe and would like 

to highlight two who have illuminated how NattoPharma 

earned their business and consistently exceeded expecta-

tions, making them loyal, profitable customers for years to 

come.

Natural product companies seek NattoPharma as a partner 

because they recognize creating quality products mean start-

ing with the best possible raw materials. Offering the only 

truly clinically validated and patented Vitamin K2 as MK-7 on 

the market gives NattoPharma’s customers the confidence 

to design innovative, effective formulas that create customer 

loyalty. NattoPharma offers the expertise necessary to bring 

products from vision to reality, working in tandem with cus-

tomers to understand their specific formulation needs and 

recommend the most effective and robust K2 solution for 

any desired application. 

In addition to creating products and technologies driven by 

science, NattoPharma offers unparalleled support to its part-

ners, ensuring their success communicating their value to a 

crowded marketplace. In using NattoPharma’s clinically vali-

dated materials, partners have the opportunity to aggressive-

ly market their products with approved claims. 

NattoPharma has partners across the globe, and would like 

to highlight two who have illuminated how NattoPharma 

earned their business and consistently exceeded expecta-

tions, making them loyal, profitable customers for years to 

come.

Natural product companies seek NattoPharma as a partner because they recognize 
creating quality products mean starting with the best possible raw materials.

A GLOBAL PARTNER
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Weider Global Nutrition is an active nutrition company that 

has been developing innovative dietary supplements for 

more than 80 years, providing products and services to over 

120 countries. 

“The Weider Family has been creating dietary supplements 

based on four core principles: quality, science, knowledge, 

and trust,” says Colby Mclellan, Vice President of Product De-

velopment and Marketing. “Our Mission is to provide con-

sumers with the best products that Nutritional Sciences has 

to offer for living a longer, stronger and healthier life.”

The nationwide roll-out of Artery Health in Costco stores will 

commence in Q1 of ‘19 and be staged over the course of the 

calendar year. 

“Weider has earned the trust of health-conscious people for 

one simple reason: for well over half a century, we have put 

the quality and efficacy of our products above everything 

else,” says Colby.  “That has everything to do with selecting 

the right suppliers for our raw materials, and NattoPharma 

has been an extraordinary partner on that front. Their clin-

ically validated MenaQ7 is the star ingredient of our Artery 

Health product, and the company has provided us unparal-

leled support as we have endeavored to improve the status 

of cardiovascular health around the globe.”

“Artery Health is a fantastic example of our commitment to 

provide the best possible products for consumers, and se-

lecting MenaQ7 as our Vitamin K2 is evidence of that,” Col-

by continues. “MenaQ7 was an obvious choice for inclusion 

based on its substantial clinical evidence as an effective car-

diovascular ingredient, and that MenaQ7 is the only clinically 

supported and patented K2 for cardiovascular health avail-

able today.” 

Artery Health was quickly recognized as an industry innova-

tion. First earning placement with Target, the United States’ 

largest upscale discount retailer, with more than 1800 stores 

nationwide. Starting June 1st, 2018, Artery Health has been 

available for purchase on Target.com, with the expectation it 

will be introduced to store shelves during 2019. To date the 

company has enjoyed significant volumes sold on Target.

com.

Not long after the Target.com introduction, Artery Health 

caught the attention of Costco, the United States’ largest 

membership-only warehouse club, with almost 500 ware-

houses nationwide. Artery Health will be available for pur-

chase on Costco store shelves nationwide and NattoPharma 

anticipates significant volumes sold through this channel. 

Recognizing the importance of protecting and promoting 

cardiovascular health, created an unique new product called 

Artery Health, a comprehensive formula with 3 key ingredi-

ents: Vitamin K2 (as MenaQ7®), aronia berry, and ginger to 

properly transport and secure calcium, increase blood flow 

and manage the C-reactive protein (respectively) for support-

ing arterial flexibility and promoting cardiovascular health. 

This unparalleled combination product was launched in Jan-

uary 2018.

NattoPharma has provided unparalleled support as we have endeavored to im-
prove the status of cardiovascular health around the globe.

WEIDER
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NattoPharma is, and will always be, the only K2 supplier in the world.

Founded in 2008, Terranova Synergistic Nutrition is a multi-

award-winning supplement company with a range of more 

than 100 different nutritional and botanical products. Formu-

lated and manufactured in Britain, Terranova is one of only a 

few large-scale supplement companies in the industry that 

does not use fillers, binders and other manufacturing addi-

tives in its products, and one of even fewer such companies 

that is 100% suitable for vegans. And as of January 1st, 2019, 

the Terranova international family consists of 21 distributors  

covering 31 countries.

While Terranova was enthusiastic about MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 

as MK-7 and the substantial evidence supporting its bene-

fits, adding the ingredient to its line of products was not an 

easy process. It was inherently important that the material 

be stable and mineral protected with a mechanism that was 

vegan-suitable, and at the time discussions began, MenaQ7 

did not meet this criterion. However, NattoPharma heard the 

needs and actively met them, delivering material that would 

satisfy Terranova’s high standards.

“From the very beginning, NattoPharma made a strong case 

why they were a perfect partner for our company, presenting 

all the advantages and research-proven benefits of MenaQ7, 

as well as the marketing support they would offer,” says Ste-

phen Terrass, CEO and Founder of Terranova. “We were hum-

bled by NattoPharma’s belief in our brand, vision and stan-

dards, and by the immense respect that they showed for our 

unwillingness to compromise on our vegan status. Moreover, 

NattoPharma’s engagement remained strong even when it 

was uncertain as to how long it may take before a suitable 

material would be developed.

Above all, we were overwhelmed by how NattoPharma prior-

itized our need for this material and enthusiatically accepted 

the challenge of developing and delivering it.”

Going the extra mile certainly made an impression on Ter-

ranova, and was pivotal in achieving the reciprocal commit-

ment. In fact, Terrass had announced his plans to launch K2 

and to replace K1 with K2 in all of his vitamin K-containing 

formulations. Even with the delays encountered, Terrass opt-

ed to wait 2 years for NattoPharma rather than using a com-

petitor’s material. 

“When a supplier displays integrity and commitment to me, I 

am loyal to that supplier,” says Terrass. “We were not only over-

whelmed by the monumental efforts that the NattoPharma 

team undertook to create a vegan, mineral-protected raw 

material, but we were surprised at the speed and efficiency in 

which its development and subsequent testing were carried 

out. The end result is that as far as Terranova is concerned, 

NattoPharma is, and will always be, the only K2 supplier in 

the world.”

This deep trust and partnership inspired Terrass to invite Nat-

toPharma as a guest of honour at the company’s 2-day New 

Product Conference in London in June of 2018, which was 

attended by 50 delegates who control the Terranova distribu-

tion in 31 different countries. The only ingredient supplier in-

vited to the conference, NattoPharma was given the chance 

to directly train Terranova distributors about MenaQ7 being 

a truly unique and superior K2 as MK-7 – truly making them 

brand ambassadors – and to highlight the marketing and 

co-op support NattoPharma offers, which was received with 

great enthusiasm. 

TERRANOVA
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This includes a 100ug stand-alone K2 product, two D3 + K2 

products (one with 50ug and the other with 100ug) and also 

three new multivitamin products. The launch of all of the new 

products will be complete by February 1st, 2019 – including 

launches in several countries and languages. 

Terranova also has two other formulations in mind in its near-

term NPD pipeline. Further, Terranova has expressed a strong 

interest in the new MenaQ7 Full Spectrum K2 material, and 

is eager to pursue an ingredient that even more accurately 

embodies its views. 

Terrass expressed that a direct result of NattoPharma’s partic-

ipation in the conference led to several countries immediate-

ly placing orders for all of the MenaQ7-containing products. 

Many of these will be in full foreign language labels (Terrano-

va packages their products in 10 different languages).

At the present time, a total of 9 different products now fea-

ture MenaQ7. This list includes three of their original multi-

vitamin products, where K1 was replaced with MenaQ7. In 

addition to these reformulations, Terranova also launched six 

new products which contain MenaQ7. 

“This is really only the beginning. Holistically balanced in-

gredients are a hallmark of Terranova’s philosophy, and the 

Full-Spectrum K2 is completely consistent with our vision,” 

says Terrass. ”Above all, NattoPharma will be an important 

part of Terranova’s future because NattoPharma are the best 

in every way. They have the best ingredients, strongest re-

search and most talented R&D combined with superior sales, 

marketing and educational support, and unfailing integrity, 

transparency, commitment and loyalty.”

Further, Terranova has expressed a strong interest in the new 

MenaQ7 Full Spectrum K2 material, and is eager to pursue 

an ingredient that even more accurately embodies its views.
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Nattopharma was founded as a Norwegian company in late 

2004, and I have been Chairman of the Board since 2012, but 

it is over 20 years ago that I first learned about Vitamin K2. At 

the time I was working in the industry as a consultant on a 

project looking at how to combat osteoporosis, a significant 

health issue in Norway. Whilst screening global data, statis-

tically lower levels of osteoporosis and heart disease were 

noted in specific parts of Japan. It was found that in these 

particular areas the populations consumed natto, a tradition-

al Japanese food made from fermented soy beans. Further 

research into natto identified vitamin K2 as the main active 

component, a vitamin that at the time very few people knew 

about. I was excited about the possibilities of this discovery 

and wanted to pursue this further, and this was the begin-

ning of the NattoPharma story.

In 2006 NattoPharma entered a long-term collaborative R&D 

agreement with VitaK BV, a non-profit research company 

owned by the University of Maastricht. This was the start of a 

long-standing relationship with the University of Maastricht, 

Professor Leon Schurgers and the leading experts within the 

vitamin K field. The result of this being clinically validated 

studies documenting the biological and health effects of vi-

tamin K2, which underpin NattoPharma´s IPR and EFSA Claim 

strategy.

After a few years with both its up’s and down’s, 2015 marked 

the start of period of change for the company, as steps were 

taken towards a greater commercial focus. The decision to 

spin of the pharma division at the end of 2017 to Kaydence 

Pharma AS further enhanced this focus. We will continue to 

follow the development of Kaydence with excitement.

In 2018 we have delivered the strongest financial results in the history of the com-
pany, which is a result of increased focus and dedicated work over the last few years. 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRODE BOHAN

Bohan (51) established NattoPharma in 2004 and was an 

important driving force for the company to succeed in gain-

ing access to several major customers from day one. Bohan 

worked as a sales and marketing director until 2007, and was 

responsible for the company passing 20 million in sales at 

the time. Bohan has established a series of companies in Nor-

way and internationally in the field of health and technology 

over the last 20 years. In addition, Bohan is Chairman of the 

Board of ImmunoPharma AS. Bohan is the largest sharehold-

er in NattoPharma through Bohan & Co. AS, TG Montgomery 

AS and Patrycia Ratusinska with a total stake of 18.56% per 

December 31st, 2018. In 2018 he received a compensation of 

NOK 729 000, as well as a contribution to a pension scheme 

of NOK 32 000 for work in addition to normal board work. 

Bohan has 200 000 options in the company.

Chairman of the Board

Halldén (54) has extensive experience from international fi-

nance. He is the working chairman of Life Science Sweden 

AB and important contributor to NattoPharma’s develop-

ment. Life Science Sweden AB is a long-standing shareholder 

in NattoPharma, and the second largest per December 31st, 

2018, with an ownership of 12.00%. Additional, Halldén, with 

related parties, owns 83 800 shares in the company, and has 

100 000 options.

STEFAN HALLDÊN

Board Director

The NattoPharma Board of Directors consists of individuals with a range of expertise 
in industry, finance and business, providing management oversight and guidance on 
a continuous basis.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2018 we have delivered the strongest financial results in 

the history of the company, which is a result of increased fo-

cus and dedicated work over the last few years. I am proud 

that as a company we have been able to take an unknown 

vitamin and invest in the research needed to scientifically val-

idate and document the human health benefits and to make 

this available to consumers globally. 

Ever advancing technologies and continual innovation are 

leading to many new and exciting developments in the sup-

plement, wellness and functional food space at present. Per-

sonalised supplements, diagnostics and microbiome health 

are just some of these that are currently driving the segment, 

and as life expectancy continues to increase these will play 

an increasingly important role. We will continue to focus on 

growing our profitability by expanding within the field of 

supplements and health, where I see massive growth poten-

tial for a company focused on investing in real science and 

new products with proven significant health benefits.

I would like to thank all of NattoPharma’s employees and 

partners for their hard work and our shareholders and cus-

tomers for their continued support. Looking ahead to 2019 

and beyond the future for NattoPharma is exciting and the 

potential is unlimited.
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SJUR THORSHEIM

Thorsheim (59) holds a law degree from the University of 

Oslo. For the last 20 years he has been a professional investor, 

investing in non-listed companies within industries such as 

aerospace, real estate, advertising, and security. Thorsheim 

has also invested in industries within commodities and bio-

tec, and has been a significant shareholder in NattoPharma 

for many years. Recently he has increased his ownership in 

NattoPharma and today is the third largest shareholders in 

the company. Thorsheim, through Pro AS, holds 1 956 310 

shares (10.76%) in the company and has 0 options.

Board Director

KATARZYNA MAREZ

Maresz (45) has a PhD in Immunology and has experience 

from The Blood Research Institute, Milwaukee. She has also 

been a research assistant at Jagiellonian University, Medical 

College Krakow, Poland. Maresz has published several immu-

nology studies, including the prestigious Nature Immunolo-

gy Journal, and is a member of the American Association of 

Immunologists. Maresz owns 25 000 shares in the company 

and has 100 000 options.

Board Director

Elmqvist (70) graduated from the Uppsala University. She 

started her career at the Swedish Medical Products Agency, 

and later gained 20 years of experience in pharmaceuticals 

in the field of quality, production, and operations. Elmqvist 

is currently engaged in the position of VP Quality Assurance 

in Scandinavian Biopharma AB. Broad experience in the 

pharmaceutical industry, and within production, in particu-

lar, makes Elmqvist an important resource for NattoPharma 

in the process of further developing the company. Elmqvist 

owns no shares in the company, and has 100 000 options.

ANNETTE ELMQVIST

Board Director

KJETIL RAMSØY

Ramsøy (47) joined NattoPharma as CFO in 2016. A Certified 

Public Accountant, he has served in several senior financial 

positions within the power supply industry, as well as the oil 

service industry. Having worked in both Scandinavia and the 

United States, he brings experience from both global and 

publicly listed companies to NattoPharma. Ramsøy, through 

Cinco Invest AS, owns 290 476 shares in the company, and 

has 125 100 options.

NattoPharma CEO
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The Board continuously assesses the need for working capi-
tal and capital for new investments necessary to meet future 
growth and the current dividend policy. As of December 31st, 
2018, the equity was NOK 161.4 million. The company’s share 
capital is NOK 54 539 799 divided into 18 179 933 shares, each 
with a nominal value of NOK 3. In addition, the Company 
owns 7 143 shares at a face value of NOK 3, valued at a total 
of NOK 21 429.

As the company is in a phase of continued rapid growth, in-
vestment in working capital will be necessary. For this reason, 
the Board will not propose any dividend distribution for 2018.

At the Annual General Meeting May 30th, 2018, the following 
resolution was adopted pursuant to sections 9-4 and 9-5 of 
the Public Limited Liability Companies Act;

Power of Attorney - Share Option Programme
Power of attorney to increase the company’s share capital by 
up to NOK 5 436 000 equivalent to 1 812 000 new shares each 
denominated NOK 3. 

Within this framework, the authorization may be used sev-
eral times within the term of the mandate. The subscription 
price and other terms is determined by the Board of Direc-
tors. The new shares may be subscribed by employees, other 
resource persons and members of the Board of Directors, and 
the shareholders’ pre-emptive rights may thus be set aside, 
cf. the Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 10-4 cf. 10-5. 
The authorization does not comprise capital increase by non-
cash payment or a right to charge the company with special 
obligations, cf. Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 10-2, 
and does not include a merger resolution, cf. Public Limited 
Liability Companies Act § 13-5.

The authorization shall be valid until the 2020 Annual Gener-
al Meeting, but no longer than May 30th, 2020. The maturity 
of the above authorization is not in accordance with the rec-
ommendation in NUES.

The Board strives to comply with the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance, revised October 17th, 
2018 (see www.nues.no) and Section 3-3b of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act. Compliance with the recommendation is 
based on the “follow or explain” principle and the following 
review goes through the systematics of the latest revised ver-
sion of NUES.

The company’s principles for corporate governance will lay 
the foundation for long-term value creation for the bene-
fit of shareholders, employees, and society as a whole. The 
principles shall clarify role sharing between shareholders, the 
Board and daily Management beyond what is stated in the 
legislation. The principles will help to strengthen the trust of 
the company among shareholders, the capital market, and 
other stakeholders. The Board of Directors will ensure that the 
company has good corporate governance and is subject to 
annual assessment and discussion in the Board, as well as the 
text of this chapter in the Annual Report.

According to NattoPharma’s Articles of Association, the com-
pany’s activities are to directly and via ownership interests in 
other companies, to develop, distribute, and sell nutritional 
products and pharmaceutical products, as well as related ser-
vices. 

The Group’s goals and main strategies are presented in total 
in the annual report, but can be summarised as follows: «The 
Group’s core business is the production and processing of 
K2 vitamin products and other ingredients within the sup-
plement and nutracetical industry, and marketing, sale and 
distribution of said products.». This includes investments in 
R&D and IPR (patents/documentation) relating to the use of 
vitamin K2 as a commercial product. 

The Board evaluates the goals, strategies and the Group’s risk 
profile as such at the minimum annually.  

The company’s goal is to maximize the return on sharehold-
er’s invested capital over time. It is important for the Board 
to ensure that there are competent persons in the compa-
ny’s governing bodies and to ensure that the company’s ac-
counts have been audited by a qualified and independent 
auditor. The company also believes that it is important that 
information is communicated in a manner that does not 
favour any shareholders or stakeholders and that the infor-
mation provided is fair and provides a true and fair view of 
the company’s position and its business. NattoPharma has 
only one share class with equal voting rights. All shareholders 
have equal rights to dividends and equal rights in the case of 
share capital expansion.

There are no restrictions on the transferability of the com-
pany’s shares. The company’s shares were listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange’s Axess list on January 30th, 2008. The compa-
ny is subject to the requirements and rules applicable to all 
companies listed on Oslo Børs.

On September 25th, 2018, the company was delisted from the 
NASDAQ First North stock exchange in Stockholm.

1 STATEMENTS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

4 EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND 
TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSELY RELATED PARTIES

2 ACTIVITIES

3 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS

In May 2018, Christopher von Schirach-Szmigiel, at the time 
a board member of NattoPharma ASA, exercised options 
granted to him in the Annual General Meeting in 2016. In 
board proceedings on May 8th the Board of Directors ap-
proved the issue of 50 000 new shares, with a face value of 
NOK 3 per share. 

The price per share was NOK 8.78 and the shares were regis-
tered on November 7th, 2018. The share capital was increased 
by NOK 150 000.

No other shares under this authorization have been issued 
by the end of 2018.

Power of Attorney - Share Capital Increase for 
Aquisitions and Mergers
Power of attorney to increase the company’s share capital by 
up to NOK 5 436 000, equivalent to 1 812 000 new shares 
each denominated at NOK 3. Within this framework, the au-
thorization may be used several times within the term of the 
authorization. The subscription price and other terms of the 
shares are determined by the Board. The authorization may 
be used to further develop the company’s areas of priority 
by acquiring or merge with new businesses against payment 
in new shares or by otherwise increasing the share capital. 
The shareholders’ pre-emptive rights may be set aside, cf. the 
Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 10-4 cf. 10-5. The au-
thorization also includes share capital increases against non-
cash payments and the right to impose special obligations 
on the company, cf. the Public Limited Liability Companies 
Act § 10-2. The authorization also includes the adoption of 
merger resolutions pursuant to the Public Limited Compa-
nies Act § 13-5.

The authorization is valid until the Annual General Meeting in 
2019, however, no longer than until May 30th, 2019.

No shares under this authorization have been issued by the 
end of 2018.

Power of Attorney - Repurchase of Own Shares
Power of attorney to acquire shares in NattoPharma ASA on 
one or more occasions for the purpose of owning or exercis-
ing consideration for the acquisition of other companies or 
businesses, joint ventures, or joint ventures within NattoPhar-
ma’s purpose, with a total denomination of up to NOK 5 438 
979.90. The authorization also includes a contractual pledge 
in shares in NattoPharma ASA. The Board is free to choose 
the way in which the acquisition and disposal of own shares 
will take place. The authorization is not intended to facilitate 
or prevent takeover bids where NattoPharma ASA is the tar-
get company. Under this authorization, the Board may pay a 
minimum of NOK 0.01 per share or maximum market price 
per share on the day the offer is submitted, but the maximum 
amount does not exceed NOK 30 per share. The authoriza-
tion is valid until the Annual General Meeting in 2020, but no 
longer than May 30th, 2020.

5 FREE TRANSFERABILITY

6 GENERAL MEETING

The company adheres to section 5 of the Norwegian Public 
Limited Companies Act and the Norwegian Code of Practice 
for Corporate Governance, paragraph 6, regarding sharehold-
ers’ rights in order to facilitate the participation of sharehold-
ers in exercising their rights at the company’s general meet-
ing. Notice of invitation to the Annual General Meeting and 
case documents to the general meeting, as far as possible, 
including the nomination committee’s recommendation, will 
be available on the company’s website no later than 21 days 
before the general meeting is held. In addition, the general 
meeting will be convened in writing. All shareholders have 
the right to attend, possibly meeting by proxy. The general 
meeting shall approve the annual accounts and the board’s 
report, elect the company’s Board, election committee and 
approve their fees, and elect the auditor and approve his fees.

The Board of Directors of NattoPharma underlines the importance of having sound 
corporate governance that clearly states the distribution of roles between sharehold-
ers, the Board of Directors and the company management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Board ensures that internal control procedures are car-
ried out and that there are appropriate risk management sys-
tems that will help eliminate unnecessary risks to which the 
company is exposed. Typical risk exposure that the company 
is exposed to includes operational risk, currency risk, financial 
risk, and risk related to the markets in which the company is 
engaged in laws and regulations in individual countries.

The Board strives to hold an Annual Meeting for review of the 
company’s finances, risk exposure, and internal control with 
the company’s auditor.

A meeting was held with the company’s auditor in 2018. 

The Board helps to ensure the quality of internal and external 
reporting, that the company operates commercially soundly 
with regard to adopted standards, and that the company ad-
heres to applicable laws and regulations.

The company has established Board instructions and instruc-
tions for the General Manager. The company has implement-
ed Ethical Guidelines and established a framework for inter-
nal control per date of approval of the annual accounts for 
2018.

The Board’s remuneration is approved by the company’s 
General Meeting, and refer to minutes of the Annual General 
Meeting dated May 30th, 2018, for further clarification by the 
Nomination Committee of the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting 2018.

Routines have been introduced for agreements with the 
Board members to be approved by the Board. Such routines 
have been introduced in the Board of Directors of April 14th, 
2008.

See renumeration to each member of the Board of Directors 
on page 28.

Board Members
Routines have been introduced for agreements with the 
Board members to be approved by the Board. Such routines 
have been introduced in the Board of Directors of April 14th, 
2008.

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

11 BOARD REMUNERATION

The company has a Nomination Committee, as per the ar-
ticles of association. The Nomination Committee has been 
published through publication of the company’s general 
meeting protocol. The Nomination Committee proposes 
candidates to the Board to be elected at the company’s An-
nual General Meeting. As of today, the Nomination Commit-
tee consists of two members, Frank E. Bjordal (leader) and 
Kim Øien.

Frank Bjordal is up for re-election at the Annual General 
Meeting in 2019. Kim Øien is up for re-election in 2020.  Ac-
cording to the Articles of Association the Nomination Com-
mittee should propose its own guidelines. The members of 
the Nomination Committee are independent of the board 
and other senior executives. As the Board has not prepared 
an evaluation report, such a report has not been dealt with 
by the Nomination Committee.

7 NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has overall responsibility for the company’s man-
agement. Today there are 5 members of the Board (three men 
and two women). All requirements for the number of Board 
members, the composition of the Board with regard to inde-
pendence, and the number of women (ref. Norwegian law 
applicable from January 1st, 2008) are fulfilled. The Chairman 
of the Board has been in office for 4 years and was re-elect-
ed at the Annual General Meeting in 2018 for two years, and 
are hence up for election again at the Annual General Meet-
ing in 2020. Sjur Thorsheim was elected to the Board in May 
2018, for a period of one year, replacing Stanislaw C. Von Schi-
rach-Smiegel, and is hence up for re-election in 2019. Board 
member Katarzyna Zdislawa Mareszis is up for re-election in 
2019. Four of the Board’s members owns shares in the com-
pany. All five Board members are considered independent 
and the Board’s composition is thus in line with the Norwe-
gian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, Section 8. 

Information on the members of the Board
See separate presentation on the Board of Directors on page 
28.

8 COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD, 
GOVERNANCE AND INDEPENDENCE

9 WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is acting according to the approved 
boards rules of procedure which were adopted by the Board 
on April 14th, 2008. 

The Board of Directors, elected at the Annual General Meet-
ing on May 3rd, 2018, has a plan for monthly board meetings 
in 2019, and will hold ad hoc board meetings on important 
topics that may arise. 

The Board has conducted 17 meetings during 2018. Due to 
the size of the company, the Board has appointed itself as 
the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee. The 
Board has not conducted an own evaluation in the form of a 
separate report, as this has not been the agenda for the new 
Board since its accession. 

The CEO’s and senior executives’ compensations for 2018 are 
described in Note 21 in the annual accounts. Pursuant to sec-
tion 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, the Board 
has prepared a statement on the determination of salary and 
other remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives.
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for de-
termining the remuneration of the CEO, and the CEO is in 
consultation with the Board again responsible for determin-
ing the remuneration of senior executives.

In defining the criteria underlying the wage determination 
guidelines, the underlying principle is that the total salary 
package should reflect the responsibilities and duties of the 
individual in the management team, and that the employee 
contributes to the long-term value creation of the company. 
It is crucial that the company can offer competitive condi-
tions in order to attract people with the qualities and com-
petencies necessary to support the strategic development of 
the company, nationally as well as internationally.

The company’s employees participate in the company’s pen-
sion and insurance scheme through DNB Livsforsikring AS.

It is NattoPharma’s policy that all shareholders should be 
treated equally as regards access to information relevant to 
evaluating and valuing the company, and that the company 
will receive and appreciate the shareholders’ views and inter-
est in the company’s operations, results and strategy. 

NattoPharma strives to present financial statements and oth-
er financial reporting that its investors will fully trust and sat-
isfy the requirements of Oslo Børs for listed companies  (as a 
result of the company’s shares being listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange’s Axess list January 30th, 2008). NattoPharma’s ac-
counting practices indicate a high degree of transparency 
and are based on IFRS standards. Updated financial informa-
tion and other company-related information are posted on 
the company’s website. The company has established guide-
lines for the company’s contact with shareholders outside 
the General Meeting, which is available on the company’s 
website www.nattopharma.com under “Investor Relations”.

12 REMUNERATION TO EXECUTIVE PERSONNEL

13 INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

The Board of Directors has, inter alia, adopted the following 
principles for the treatment of any acquisition offer:

• If the Board receives information about a possible or 
current takeover bid on the company’s shares, the Board 
shall assist all shareholders to be treated equally and re-
ceive satisfactory information at all times.

• In the case of takeover bids on the company, the Board 
shall contribute to the operation of the company with-
out interruption under normal operations.

• In the case of takeover bids, the Board shall not actively 
prevent the offer, unless special circumstances dictate 
that such an act will be in the best interest of the share-
holders.

• The Board of Directors shall not seek to prevent takeover 
bids by making use of power of attorney to issue new 
shares or to take other decisions to prevent the execu-
tion of the offer.

• If an offer is received, the Board shall publish its assess-
ment of the offer and a recommendation to the share-
holders to accept or reject the offer. The Board shall work 
to ensure that shareholders have sufficient time to de-
cide on the bid.

• The Board of Directors will continue to develop guide-
lines and principles for how the company will handle a 
possible takeover bid on the company’s shares.

14 TAKEOVERS

15 AUDITOR

Deloitte AS is the company’s auditor, elected at the Annual 
General Meeting on May 9th, 2014. The auditor has been ap-
pointed by the General Meeting on behalf of all shareholders 
and the election has been conducted in accordance with 
laws and regulations. The auditor supervises accounting, 
annual accounts, and the annual financial closing, as well as 
verifies tax settlement before submission of tax return for the 
company. There will be at least 1 annual meeting with the 
Board without presence from the company’s Management, 
among other things, to review the company’s internal con-
trol. A meeting was held in 2018 to review the company’s 
internal control in accordance with NUES paragraph 15.

Remuneration to the auditor in 2018 is shown in Note 7 to 
the annual accounts.

http://www.nattopharma.com
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2018 2017*) 2016*) 2015 2014

Market Value (NOK 1000) 147 257 164 982 159 711 136 262 135 007 

Number of Shares Traded (1000) 1 902 3 311 2 534 4 895 7 647 

Numbers of Issued Shares as at December 31st (1000) 18 180 18 130 17 570 17 140 13 569 

Share Price as at December 31st 8.10 9.10 9.09 7.95 9.95 

Year High 9.65 11.45 11.10 16.60 21.50 

Year Low 8.10 8.68 6.50 6.60 9.72 

Earnings per Share (NOK) 0.10 -0.23 -0.60 -1.84 -1.56 

Diluted Earnings per Share (NOK) 0.09 -0.21 -0.60 -1.84 -1.56 

Dividends per Share (NOK) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Return on Equity (ROE) 1.5% -3.7% -13.8% -34.0% -28.0%

Share Price/Earnings per Share (P/E) 87.59 n.m. n.m. n.m. n.m.

Share Price/Equity Share (P/B) 1.34 1.49 2.10 1.47 1.78 

EV/EBITDA (Adj.) 19.33 28.74 288.86 n.m. n.m.

Cash Flow from Operations (NOK 1000) 6 488 -11 229 -4 937 -24 734 -24 971 

Free Cash Flow (FCF) (NOK 1000) 2 831 -12 093 -6 414 -28 352 -25 747 

*) Pro-forma after spin-off of Paharma business into Kaydence Pharma AS in 2017.

NattoPharma’s objective is for all stakeholders to have access to the same financial information at any given time. The information 
provided should ensure that valuation of the share is as correct as possible. Information that may impact the share price will be 
disclosed to the Oslo Stock Exchange and on the Company’s website.

In 2018, NattoPharma reported on a half year basis. Starting from 2019, the company returns to quarterly reporting and will hold 
public presentations of its quarterly and annual results. These presentations are held live on a webcast, and are available on Nat-
toPharma’s own website.

Investor Relations

NattoPharma was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange’s Oslo Axess List January 30th, 2008 and trade under the ticker NATTO. There 
is only one share class, and all the shares carry voting rights. 

The company’s goal is to create value for shareholders in the long term through a competitive return relative to comparable
investment alternatives. The value will come from share appreciation in the mid-term, as the company is in a significant growth 
phase and hence re-invests liquidity into the business.

The NATTO share fell 11 per cent in 2018, and its closing price as at December 31st, 2018, was NOK 8.10 (9.10).

The liquidity of the share has in recent years declined, from a peak in 2014, although liquidity in the first quarter of 2019 has again 
picked up. The turnover rate for 2018 was approximately 10 per cent (18 per cent), and a total of 1 901 511 (3 311 105) shares were 
traded on the stock exchange. The NATTO share was traded on 204 out of 253 possible trading days, and the average turnover for 
each trading day was 9 321 (14 211) shares. At the same time as liquidity has declined, the trading in the shares have been less 
volatile in 2018. The drop in volatility from 2017 to 2018 was expected. NattoPharma is now a company focused on the supple-
ment and nutritional business, while it has a reduced exposure in the pharma business after the spin-off in 2017, through its 46% 
ownership in Kaydence Pharma AS.

Share Return and Turnover

At the start of 2018, the share capital was NOK 54 389 799 
based on a total number of shares issued of 18 129 933 each 
with a face value of NOK 3. The company also held a total of 
7 143 own shares. During the year, the company carried out 
one new share issue for a total of 50 000 shares with a face 
value of NOK 3 in connection with options granted to prior 
Board member Christopher von Schirach-Szmigiel. The share 
capital increased by NOK 150 000 and totalled NOK 54 539 
799 divided into 18 179 933 shares, each with a face value of 
NOK 3, at the end of 2018.

At the end of the year, there were approximately 741 share-
holders on the list of shareholders. The twenty largest share-
holders owned 70 per cent of the company’s shares. Manage-
ment and the Board of Directors directly or indirectly owned 
approximately 32 per cent of the shares in the company. 
Chairman of the Board, Frode Bohan, through ownership in 
Bohan & Co AS, TG Montgomery AS and Patrycia Ratusinska is 
the largest shareholder with 18.56 per cent of the company’s 
shares. 

Share issues and buyback of shares will be considered on 
an ongoing basis in light of the company’s alternative in-
vestment options, financial situation and need for capital or 
shares in connection with options programmes, acquisitions 
or for other needs for capital. NattoPharma is authorised by 
the General Meeting to issue up to 10 per cent of the shares 
outstanding, and authorized to buy up to 10 per cent of the 
shares outstanding.

Shareholders Name No. of Shares % of Total

Life Science Sweden AB 2 182 362 12.00%

Pro AS 1 956 310 10.76%

TG Montgomery AS 1 735 122 9.54%

Bohan & Co AS 1 288 455 7.09%

Novel Nutrition Network Sp. Z.o.o. 673 927 3.71%

Synergia Life Science Pty Ltd. 560 000 3.08%

Eng AS 554 508 3.05%

Försäkringsaktiebolaget, Avanza 
Pension

509 500 2.80%

Anssi Münz 489 323 2.69%

Bjerkenes, Jan Fredrik 400 000 2.20%

Ratusinska, Patrycja Karolina 350 000 1.93%

Nielsen, Trygve 325 020 1.79%

Cinco Invest AS 290 476 1.60%

AF Petersens, Carl 270 000 1.49%

Nordnet Bank AB 244 596 1.35%

Nicoline Invest AS 200 000 1.10%

MP Games Aktiebolag 199 643 1.10%

Six Sis AG 197 218 1.08%

Tsambiko Holding AS 190 476 1.05%

Vrenne, Stein Ole 160 000 0.88%

Total Shares Top-20 12 776 936 70.28% 

Other Shareholders 5 402 997 29.72%

Total Outstanding Number of Shares 18 179 933 100.00%

Share Capital and Shareholders

In the first quarter of 2019, Nordea Markets initiated coverage on the NattoPharma share through a report commissioned by Nat-
toPharma. A link to the report and other information can be found on NattoPharma’s website.

Finally, the company maintains ongoing contact with investors and analysts. The company follows the Oslo Stock Exchange’s 
recommendations for reporting IR information. Kjetil Ramsøy, CEO/CFO, is responsible for investor relations.

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

9.5

10

x

Shares Traded Share Price

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr Ju
n

Ju
l

M
ay

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec

After the spin-off of the pharma business into Kaydence Pharma at the end of 2017, volatility in the 
NattoPharma share went down in 2018. The shares in NattoPharma yielded a return of -11 percent, 
while the Oslo Stock Exchange’s benchmark index retreated 1.8 percent.

THE SHARE
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Kaydence Pharma is an emerging pharmaceutical company 
focused on the development of menaquinone-7 (MQ-7), a 
drug candidate for the treatment of vascular calcification.  
Kaydence was spun off from NattoPharma in December 2017. 

The company is focused exclusively on the development and 
subsequent commercialization of MQ-7 as a novel pharma-
ceutical product treating cardiovascular diseases as well as 
other tissue calcification-related diseases. The purpose of the 
spinoff was to increase transparency and separate the two 
businesses into an ongoing operating concern (NattoPhar-
ma) focused in the sales space, and a pharmaceutical devel-
opment entity (Kaydence Pharma) focused entirely on devel-
oping a drug for pharmaceutical markets.

Kaydence has a dedicated management team and an inde-
pendent board of directors with specific experience in clini-
cal drug development and FDA drug registration. 

Kaydence is pursuing this novel therapy for patients with 
chronic kidney disease (CKD), a group for whom vascular cal-
cification and the associated loss of arterial flexibility is the 
leading cause of morbidity and mortality. The ability to effec-
tively treat arterial stiffness and vascular calcification within 
the CKD population would have a profound impact on the 
quality of life for these patients. The potential patient popu-
lation is large and growing: within the United States and the 
EU combined, it is estimated that there are over 40 million 
patients suffering from moderate to severe stages of CKD. As 
of today, there are no available treatments for vascular cal-
cification and the resulting arterial stiffness impacting CKD 
patients.

Kaydence has assembled a team with over 12 decades of 
experience in clinical development, regulatory planning and 
successful FDA drug registrations.  The company is advised by 
a group that includes several of the world’s leading experts in 
vascular calcification, nephrology, cardiology and biochemis-
try, with particular expertise in the targeted causal pathway.

Kaydence believes it has the potential to provide patients 
with a therapeutic option that does not exist today.  It is a tool 
that the company believes could ultimately help to break the 
cycle of deteriorating renal function for millions of patients, 
and alleviate complications from cardiovascular disease that 
so often accompany and contribute to the disease burden of 
this group.

The company is headquartered in Oslo, Norway, with oper-
ating locations in both New Brunswick, NJ, USA, and Oslo, 
Norway.

Kaydence is in the enviable position of being able to capi-
talize on over 10 years of research, compelling proof-of-con-
cept work (including multiple human clinical studies), and 
excellent safety data based on MK-7 use as a dietary supple-
ment.  The company holds patents for clinical applications 
of menaquinones and for its proprietary process technology 
(through NattoPharma), and it is actively expanding its intel-
lectual property portfolio. 

A strong body of clinical and scientific understanding sup-
ports the causal pathway and potential for an effective ther-
apy based on MQ-7.  Multiple studies have demonstrated 
a strong correlation between inactive Matrix Gla Protein (a 
vitamin K dependent protein, and the most potent inhibitor 
of vascular calcification), arterial stiffness and renal function 
(eGFR).  Multiple studies have also confirmed that virtually all 
CKD stage 3, 4 and dialysis patients have a sub-clinical vita-
min K insufficiency, as measured by inactive MGP. A study in 
renal transplant patients has already demonstrated the abil-
ity of MQ-7 to reduce arterial stiffness at a clinically signifi-
cant level by dramatically reducing the level of inactive MGP. 
The benefits provided by an MQ-7 therapy across all stages 
of CKD could be profound, including the potential to reduce 
the number of CKD patients who would otherwise face no 
realistic treatment option other than dialysis. 

In November 2018 Kaydence achieved a major milestone by 
successfully completing a face-to-face Pre-IND meeting with 
the US FDA. The company is currently proceeding with its 
comprehensive integrated development plan and expects to 
submit an IND application to the FDA and to initiate its Phase 
1b clinical trial within the next 12 months.

Kaydence Pharma is an early phase pharmaceutical company in which NattoPharma 
holds a 46% stake. Kaydence was spun off from NattoPharma in 2017 to focus our 
efforts in the individual pharma and supplement markets.

KAYDENCE PHARMA

Dan Rosenbaum, CEO Kaydence Pharma
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Amounts in NOK mill. 2018 2017 Change

Gross Profit 
Operating Revenues

43.9 31.4 12.5

Gross Margin 
Operating Revenues

43.1% 47.3% -4.2%

The total Operating expenses development is summarized 
below.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2018 2017 Change

Personnel Cost 28.4 19.7 8.7

Other OpEx 15.8 10.3 5.5

Total OpEx 44.2 30.0 14.2

Operating expenses includes recharges made to Kaydence 
Pharma AS and non-cash cost related to options to manage-
ment and the Board of Directors. Below is a summary of the 
OpEx development adjusted for these two items.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2018 2017 Change

Personnel Cost (Adj.) 23.0 16.0 7.0

Other OpEx (Adj.) 14.3 10.1 4.2

Total OpEx (Adj.) 37.3 26.1 11.2

As a % of Product 
Revenues

36.6% 39.4% -2.8%

The increase in Personnel Cost is related to hiring of new se-
nior personnel during 2018 to support growth and the new 
focus on the supplement/nutraceutical segments. The in-
crease in Other OpEX is related to sales and marketing efforts 
and R&D.

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Tax & Depreciation (Adj. 
EBITDA) was positive with NOK 6.7 million for the year. This 
compares to NOK 5.3 million for 2017. Net Profit was positive 
with NOK 1.8 million in 2018, compared to NOK -4.1 million 
in 2017. 

Amounts in NOK mill. 2018 2017 Change

EBITDA (Adj.) 6.7 5.3 1.4

EBITDA Margin (Adj.) 6.5% 7.9% -1.4%

EBITDA 5.1 2.8 2.3

EBITDA Margin 5.0% 4.2% 0.8%

Net Profit 1.7 -4.1 5.8

Net Profit Margin 1.6% -6.2% 16.5%

Depreciation and amortisation for the period was NOK 7.3 
million. This largely applies to depreciation of intangible as-
sets related to the acquisition of NattoPharma R&D Ltd. in 
2013.

Net financial items in the period was positive NOK 3.3 million. 
NOK 2.8 million was interest income on the loan to Kaydence 
Pharma AS, while NOK 0.5 million was net currency and other 
financial items.

Balance Sheet, Working Capital and Cash Flow
NattoPharma continues to maintain a strong financial po-
sition, with an equity ratio at per December 31st, 2018, of 
74.5%, compared to 70.6% as per December 31st, 2017.

Despite the growth and required investment in working 
capital, such as prepayments of raw material and produc-
tion efficiency development projects, the cash development 
is positive. High attention to cash management and an im-
proved profitability has both contributed to the positive 
development. Working capital management is a priority to 
ensure that the organization will be able to sustain the grow-
ing investment required in working capital as the business 
continues to grow.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2018 2017 Change

Operational Cash 
Flow

6.5 -11.2 17.7

Net Cash Flow 5.1 -6.3 11.4

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

18.7 13.6 5.1

The Share
Earnings per share were NOK 0.09 (1.31) in 2018. Diluted 
earnings per share were NOK 0.09 (1.24).

The Board proposes no dividend for 2018.  

The share price was NOK 8.10 (9.10) at year end. This yielded 
a return to shareholders of -11.0 (0.1) per cent.

NattoPharma ASA is a B2B company with worldwide sales 
rights for vitamin K2 - materialized through approved Novel 
Food procedures in Europe and SA-GRAS certificates in the 
United States. NattoPharma ASA operates out of its head of-
fice in Oslo, Norway, and has subsidiaries in the US and Cy-
prus, as well as sales representatives in Brussels, Poland and 
Shanghai. 

Vitamin K2 has been documented in clinical trials to reduce 
age-related calcium loss from bone tissue, contributes to 
maintaining bone strength and postpones the possible de-
velopment of osteoporosis. Vitamin K2 MenaQ7® also delays 
the development of rigid blood vessels, what we also call 
arterial calcification. The completed clinical “3-year study” - 
published in 2013 (bone results) and 2015 (cardiovascular 
results) - documented that a daily intake of 180 micrograms 
MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 over a 3 year period made the artery 
walls less rigid. Less rigid arteries mean that the blood vessels 
are more flexible and that the heart does not have to pump 
the blood into the main artery with excessive pressure. “Soft” 
and flexible arteries reduce the risk of heart attack or stroke.

Since 2004 NattoPharma has been - and still is - the global 
pioneer and driver of vitamin K2 research and product de-
velopment. The brand, MenaQ7®, has been positioned as the 
leading global brand in the vitamin K2 dietary supplement 
segment. NattoPharma currently sells both natural and syn-
thetically produced vitamin K2 as MK7 to both manufacturers 
and distributors of finished products as nutritional supple-
ments and enriched foods (i.e., functional foods). The com-
pany has developed and applied a unique method of syn-
thesizing a vitamin K2 that is chemically identical to vitamin 
K2 naturally produced by fermentation. The advantage of the 
chemically manufactured product, in addition to lower pro-
duction costs, is that it contains less impurities from produc-
tion than vitamin K2 produced by fermentation. In the United 
States, MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 is also sold as medical food (i.e., 
food specially adapted to specific nutritional needs).

NattoPharma ASA is listed on the Oslo Axess Stock Exchange 
under the ticker symbol NATTO.

Secure the position as a global leader in Vitamin K2 for the 
supplement industry by building a strong corporate culture 
focused on excellent quality and customer focus in all parts 
of the organization.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2018 2017 Change

Operating Revenue 101.7 66.4 35.3

Other Revenue 5.5 1.3 4.2

Total Revenue 107.2 67.7 39.5

The Gross Margin came in at 43.1% for the year, with a gross 
margin of 41.7% in the first half of the year and 44.3% in the 
second half of the year. 

OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS CONCEPT

FINANCIAL MATTERS

VISION

NattoPharma delivered record results for 2018. Operating Revenues increased 53.1 percent to NOK 101.7 million, and the adjusted 
EBITDA margin for the year came in at 6.5 percent. With a more robust organisation and continued growth in the market, the Board 
of Directors is of the opinion that NattoPharma is well-positioned for a continued increasing level of activity and good results for 
the coming year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The financial statements of NattoPharma Group and the 
parent company, NattoPharma ASA, have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) as determined by the EU, with additional disclo-
sures required by the Norwegian Accounting Act. The Board 
of Directors is of the opinion that the annual financial state-
ments provide a true and fair view of the financial results for 
2018 and financial position as at December 31st, 2018.

In accordance with the requirements in the Norwegian ac-
counting legislation, the Board of Directors confirms that the 
requirements have been met for preparation of the accounts 
under the going concern assumption and that the accounts 
have been prepared on this basis. The Corporate Governance 
Statement is an integral part of the Board of Directors’ report. 
The statement is found on page 31 of the Annual Report.

USE OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

NattoPharma use APMs on certain key performance metrics. 
These will be noted as “Adjusted” figures in the report. Please 
refer to the last pages in the annual report for an explanation 
of each measure.

COMMENTS TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Income Statement
NattoPharma reported a product revenue of NOK 101.7 mil-
lion for 2018, an increase of 53% compared to 2017. Most of 
the growth has been in the North American market, and Syn-
thetic K2 is growing at a faster pace than Natural K2, overtak-
ing Natural K2 in 1000 parts per million volume equivalents 
during 2018. Other revenue of NOK 5.5 million largely rep-
resents services and other recharges to Kaydence Pharma AS.
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Research and Development (R&D) has been an important 
part of the company’s business since its inception in 2004. 
Following the sale of the pharma business to Kaydence Phar-
ma AS in 2017, NattoPharma will now focus future R&D in-
vestments in product development over clinical research and 
support of ongoing and new studies. 

Expenses related to R&D are continuously expensed in the 
income statement to the extent they cannot be justified as 
development cost related to new products. Any cost that can 
be justified as development of a new product will be treated 
according to the accounting principles described in Note 2 
to the financial statements. 

The company continues to focus on the development of 
MenaQ7® Vitamin K2, in new formulations that make vitamin 
easy to access in a wide range of finished products - both 
as supplements and enriched food (i.e., functional foods) for 
all consumers. The company continue to secure the rights 
to such new technology through patents. NattoPharma also 
continue to look for innovative solutions for MenaQ7® as an 
ingredient in other products that provide improved ease of 
use and chemical stability. The company adheres to the cur-
rent regulatory framework for the use of health claims around 
vitamin K2 in all geographic segments in which it operates 
and continues its efforts to find the best and most relevant 
technology for using the product to meet customer needs in 
an ever-expanding and more fragmented market.
 
NattoPharma has over the years developed a portfolio of pat-
ents from data generated through the company’s historical 
investment in R&D. This patent portfolio has been transferred 
to Kaydence Pharma AS in the transaction related to the 
pharma business completed in December 2017.

NattoPharma has retained the exclusive right to use all pat-
ents and other scientific data transferred to Kaydence Phar-
ma AS, as well as all future development taking place in 
Kaydence Pharma, for use in the supplement business. This 
allows the company to protect its unique product features 
and health claims related to vitamin K2 and the MenaQ7® 
brand.

ORGANISATION

COMMENTS TO THE PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTS

The parent company reported a turnover of NOK 70.0 million 
compared to NOK 51.7 million for 2017. Operating Revenue 
came in at NOK 54.3 million compared to NOK 46.2 million 
in 2017. Cost of goods amounts to NOK 44.6 million, which 
gives a gross profit  from the sale of products of NOK 9.7 mil-
lion in 2018 against NOK 18.4 million in 2017. The gross mar-
gin is 17.8% versus 30.4% for the same period in 2017. The 
reduction in gross margin mainly comes from a challenging 
supply chain situation through the year, leading to the use 
of natural raw ingredients in the production of synthetic K2. 

Personnel Cost, Depreciation and Other Operating Expenses 
amounted to NOK 29.8 million compared to NOK 25.6 million 
in the same period of 2017. Net financial items are positive 
by NOK 3.8 million, which gives a pre-tax loss from continued 
operations for the period of NOK -0.7 million, compared with 
a negative result of NOK -4.0 million for the same period in 
2017.

Net result for the year is NOK -0.7 million, compared to a prof-
it of NOK 54.7 million in 2017, which includes the result from 
the sale of the pharma business.

The company’s cash flow from operations was negative by 
NOK 1.2 million in 2018 compared to a NOK 9.9 million deficit 
in 2017. The main items in the cash flow is the operating loss, 
investments in working capital, prepayments and change in 
intercompany receivables.

The balance sheet shows total equity of NOK 161.4 million 
and total assets of NOK 173.6 million as at December 31st, 
2018. The equity ratio is 93.0%.

DISTRIBUTION OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR

The Board proposes that the comprehensive income for Nat-
toPharma ASA for the year of NOK -0.67 million is transferred 
to retained equity.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Due to the ongoing ramp-up of supply the parent Company 
entered into a short-term loan agreement in January 2019 
to manage a commitment for delivery of additional raw ma-
terial. See Note 25 to the Consolidated Account for further 
information about this loan. 

There are no other significant events after the balance sheet 
date that is not taken into account in the information pre-
sented in this report.

ORGANISATION AND PERSONNEL

NattoPharma is working hard to build a uniform and strong 
corporate culture focused on excellent quality and customer 
service in all parts of the organisation. Motivated employees 
and a solid organisation are an important foundation for cre-
ating value.

EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP

NattoPharma want key employees and the Board of Directors 
to participate in joint value creation by becoming sharehold-
ers in the company.

Therefore, NattoPharma has an option programme for the 
Board of Directors, executive management and senior per-
sonell. The programme is evaluated in the annual General 
Meeting every year, laast in May 2018. As at December 31st, 
2018, there were 1 458 300 total options in the programme, 
whereas 1 150 800 options were for employees. The 600 000 
options to the Board are redeemable in April 2019 and April  
2020, while the options to employees are redeemable in 
March 2022 and March 2023.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND THE ENVIRONMENT

At the end of 2018, there were 16 employees in the Group, 
compared to 14 in 2017. In the parent company, NattoPhar-
ma ASA, there were 8 employees at year end, compared to 
7 in 2017. The employees excludes sub-contracted personell 
in sales and supply chain. At year-end, the proportion of em-
ployed women in the Group amounted to 37.5% . The Board 
of Directors had two female members out of five.

The Group is committed to observing and respecting the hu-
man rights of all individuals in accordance with international-
ly recognised standards, being the UN Universal Declaration 
of Human Rights. NattoPharma also expects its suppliers and 
partners to adhere to and operate in line with these same 
guidelines and likewise ensure compliance by their sub-sup-
pliers.  

The Group prohibits discrimination against any employee or 
prospective employee based on sex, race, colour, age, reli-
gion, sexual preference, marital status, national origin, disabil-
ity, ancestry, political opinion, or any other basis prohibited 
by the laws that govern its operations. This applies, for exam-
ple, to matters relating to pay, promotion, recruitment and 
general career development.

No issues related to discrimination or gender equality have 
been registered in 2018 and it is not considered necessary 
to take any further measures to ensure equal opportunities. 
The Group shall conduct itself in a manner designed to en-
sure a healthy work environment where all employees feel 
safe and secure and are valued for the diversity that they 
bring to the business. NattoPharma honours all domestic 
and international laws and regulations designed to protect 
the company’s personnel and this ensures regulated working 
conditions related to working hours, holidays, remuneration, 
pensions, and discrimination. Employees should conduct 
themselves in a manner that is consistent with this policy.

The Group prohibits unlawful harassment. Employees are 
expected to treat one another with respect. “Harassment” 
includes any conduct likely to cause offense or humiliation 
to any person or that might, on reasonable grounds, be per-
ceived by a reasonable person to place a condition on em-
ployment or on any opportunity for training or promotion.

No claims or accidents have been reported involving any 
group employees in 2018. Absence due to illness in 2018 
amounts to a total of 12 days (2017: 15 days), where 100% 
relates to absenteeism registered via self-registration. There 
has been no absence due to long-term illness or injury.

NattoPharma is strongly opposed to all forms of corruption 
and is committed to undertaking business in accordance 
with the highest ethical standards, with a zero-tolerance pol-
icy for corruption. No issues related to ethics or corruption 
have been registered in 2018.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

NattoPharma is focused on creating and introducing to the 
market offerings valuable to society by delivering measur-
able health benefits via scientifically validated products and 
technologies.  These contribute by tackling disease devel-
opment and potentially reducing government healthcare 
spend.  The company aspires to be a good corporate citizen 
in the geographies in which it operates and in which its prod-
ucts are found and has a strong commitment to promoting 
honest and ethical business conduct by all employees, in 
compliance with the laws that govern the conduct of its 
business, and with an impeccable reputation for corporate 
trustworthiness.

NattoPharma believes that a commitment to honesty, eth-
ical conduct and integrity is an invaluable asset that builds 
trust with its customers, suppliers, employees, shareholders 
and local communities. To implement its commitment, the 
company has developed a code of conduct of business eth-
ics and corporate social responsibility (the Code).  The Code 
applies to all entities controlled by the company and all em-
ployees, directors and officers of the company (Employees). 
All Employees are required to read and understand the Code. 
The Code shall be reflected, promoted and implemented in 
policies, decisions and actions and the Company shall en-
courage suppliers, consultants and other business partners 
within its sphere of influence to adopt these principles. The 
Code was adopted on April 21st, 2015 can be found on the 
corporate website.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

NattoPharma’s policy is to operate its business in accordance 
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations to en-
sure protection of, and minimal impact upon both the envi-
ronment and climate change.  All employees should conduct 
themselves in a manner that is consistent with this policy.

R&D ACTIVITIES
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Once such a decision is taken, the product will normally be 
launched within a period of 5 to 8 months. There can be no 
guarantees that the company will in the future be able to 
enter into such agreements to generate sufficient revenue 
required for the continuation of the business. Should such 
agreements for various reasons be delayed, reduced, or ter-
minated, this may adversely affect the company’s operations 
and results. 

Supply Risk
The company’s business is dependent on the continued 
supply of the vitamin K2 raw material in natural or synthetic 
form. As of December 2018, the company buys raw materials 
from several independent suppliers, which reduces the risk 
associated with the lack of vitamin K2. However, as the mar-
ket is growing, supply is expected to be a major focus and a 
challenge going forward. In order to ensure further access 
to raw materials, the company has implemented significant 
measures in the last two years to increase access to products 
by entering strategic contracts with new suppliers and con-
tract manufacturers. This will reduce the risk associated with 
reliance on one or a few critical suppliers. 

Disputes and Compensation Claims 
The company may from time to time be involved in disputes 
and/or legal actions that could lead to significant losses and/
or expenses for the company and its business. No warranties 
can be made for the company to succeed in litigation or dis-
agreement with third parties.

The company faces an inherent risk of damages in the event 
that use or abuse of the company’s products can lead to per-
sonal injury or death. The company has not received any such 
claims to date, but it cannot be ruled out that such require-
ments may be promoted in the future. All such claims against 
the company, irrespective of their validity, may constitute a 
significant weakening of the company’s financial position. 
This would be due to the ensuing legal proceedings and 
the stresses they may amount to the company’s financial re-
sources, time, and attention from management.

Market Risk
NattoPharma is not the only company that has Novel Food 
approval in Europe, but the company wishes to build com-
parative competitive advantages using its IPR strategy, in-
cluding protection through patents and the building of Euro-
pean trademarks through EFSA. NattoPharma continues the 
process of applications for “Health Claims” within the cardio-
vascular area for its MenaQ7® products to the European Food 
Safety Authority, EFSA.

The company’s patent situation indicates that only Natto-
Pharma and the customers purchasing NattoPharma prod-
ucts have the right to claim that MK-7, a vitamin K2 consumed 
in foods or as supplements, has positive health effects for the 
cardiovascular system. MK-7 is marketed through NattoPhar-
ma’s brand name MenaQ7®.

In the North American market, NattoPharma is represented 
directly through the subsidiary NattoPharma USA, Inc., which 
was established in the second half of 2013. It is the Board’s 
assessment that it is a prerequisite for success in the Ameri-
can market that the company is present and that the office is 
serviced with local knowledge and expertise.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Liquidity Risk
NattoPharma is continuously focusing on Research and De-
velopment (R&D) of its production technologies, finding new 
ways to reduce costs and as the market continues to grow, 
as well as new distribution methods for vitamin K2 in gener-
al. During 2018, the company has added additional capacity 
for its synthetic products. In the second half of 2018, the first 
phase of a development project was initiated to improve the 
production method of synthetic K2, This is estimated to result 
in a significant increase in access to a commercially compet-
itive product. At the same time, the company is investing in 
working capital to support the planned growth. 

Barring any unforeseen events, the management’s assess-
ment is that the company’s liquidity by the end of 2018 plus 
the loan in January 2019 from major shareholder Pro AS rep-
resented by Board member Sjur Thorsheim, and updated 
forecasts for the short and medium term, indicate that new 
share issues will not be required for operational needs. Any 
new investments, other than ordinary operations, may how-
ever entail the risk that future capital requirements will arise.

Currency Exchange Risk
The expenses in the Group are mainly related to NOK, USD, 
and EUR, while revenues are mainly USD and EUR. The expo-
sure to currency risk is continuously monitored. 

NOK development: Based on monthly average rates/yearly 
average rates in 2018, EUR has strengthened against Norwe-
gian kroners by approximately 2.9%, while USD weakened 
by approximately 1.7%. The average exchange rate between 
EUR and USD has strengthened by 4.6% in the favour of EUR. 

The Group’s management and the Board have continuously 
assessed the risk and have not seen the need to implement 
measures to limit the currency risk.  The Group operates with 
differences currencies that all impact different parts of the fi-
nancials, and this partly creates of a natural foreign exchange 
rate hedging situation. However, if necessary, financial instru-
ments will be evaluated to reduce this exposure, especially 
where credit will be given to major customers.

RISK AREAS

The Board of Directors and Management conducts ongoing 
analysis of the risk factors facing the company. An invest-
ment in equities implies risk and potential investors should 
carefully assess the risk outlined in this section, as well as 
the information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report 
with accompanying accounts and notes before deciding to 
invest in the company’s shares. If any of the following risks 
materialize, this could adversely affect the company and/or 
its business, financial position, operating profit, liquidity, and/
or prospects. The value of the company’s shares can be re-
duced, and investors may lose all or part of their investments. 
The order in which the risks are presented does not necessar-
ily reflect the likelihood that they occur or the extent of their 
potential impact on the company.

An investment in the company’s shares is only suitable for 
investors who understand risk factors associated with this 
type of investment and can afford a loss of all or part of the 
investment. All risks that are known to the company or as the 
company considers material is described in this section.

OPERATIONAL RISK FACTORS

Activity Levels
The company’s business is exposed to the economic cycle 
in the market. Changes in the overall financial situation may 
affect the demand for the company’s products, thereby af-
fecting the company’s financial position and profit. Since the 
company’s business is concentrated in a single industry, the 
company may be more exposed to special economic, polit-
ical, regulatory, environmental, or other developmental fea-
tures than a company that has a more diverse business.

Competition and Strategic Choices
Competition is a constant threat to the company’s success. 
The competitive situation implies that high demands are set 
regarding the company’s board and management, and the 
long-term strategic choices that have been made. There is a 
possibility that new companies can enter the market for vita-
min K2 distribution and thereby increase the level of compe-
tition in the market. In such a situation, the market status for 
the company can be significantly more challenging and lead 
to an unforeseen decline in sales.

NattoPharma does not conduct business that pollutes the 
external environment beyond what is the normal result of 
a primarily office-based operation. The influence on the en-
vironment is predominantly through energy consumption, 
waste generation, and travel, and the company is committed 
to minimising these activities and their negative impact by 
implementing procedures to ensure that energy and materi-
als are used efficiently and that waste and residual products 
are minimal.

The competence of the Board and Management, and the 
ability to make the right strategic choices in a dynamic busi-
ness environment can have a significant effect on the com-
pany’s future financial performance and position. 

Protection and Ownership of Intellectual Property
The company relies on intellectual property rights (IPR) and 
patents regulated by law, in addition to contractual restric-
tions, to protect important property rights. If these rights are 
not adequately protected, the company’s ability to compete 
and generate revenue may be adversely affected.

Furthermore, the company may risk not obtaining adequate 
patent protection on the technology embodied in its prod-
ucts and manufacturing processes. There is also a risk of in-
trusion of IPR from third parties, which potentially impedes 
the company’s business or leads to losses for the company. In 
such cases, expenses for legal counsellors may be significant.

The company’s access and ability to use and claim rights re-
lated to its patents and other IPR developed by consultants 
or other collaborators on behalf of the company relies on the 
ability of the company to fulfil its payment obligations relat-
ed to its patents, and agreements with affiliated third parties. 
Failure to make such payments as they mature may result in 
the company being deprived of its patents and, in extreme 
consequence, the basis for continued operation.

Regulatory and Environmental Risk
The company operates in different jurisdictions around the 
world. International operations increase the level of regu-
latory requirements and guidelines to which the company 
must relate. Changes to the regulations and environmental 
provisions in the relevant jurisdictions may therefore affect 
the company’s business. Approvals from the EU Commission, 
FDA, and similar authorities in other jurisdictions are neces-
sary to be allowed to market the company’s products in Eu-
rope, the United States, and other relevant areas, respectively. 
It cannot be guaranteed that the company will receive and / 
or be able to obtain the future necessary permits to commer-
cialize the products. Regulatory approvals can be withdrawn, 
denied, delayed, or limited for various reasons, and since reg-
ulatory agencies around the world have different approval re-
quirements, this may have a negative effect on the company.

Market Access
The company relies on entering into distribution, cooper-
ation, offer, and/or license agreements to generate and in-
crease revenue.

The introduction and establishment of new agreements can 
take from 3 months to several years. From the first contact 
and presentation of MenaQ7®, customers can spend up to 4 
to 5 years to decide if the product can be launched in their 
range.
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Credit Risk
Credit risk has been limited due to the use of advance pay-
ments on delivery for new customers, as well as limited credit 
for the largest customers. This situation is changing as new 
contracts are negotiated with major international customers 
that require significant credit periods. This will place greater 
demands on monitoring and the follow-up of the continu-
ous credit exposure, and the company has implemented 
credit evaluation and follow-up procedures to accommodate 
and mitigate this risk.

The company provided a sellers credit in conjunction with 
the PharmaCo (later renamed Kaydence Pharma AS) trans-
action, completed in December 2017, where the carrying 
amount at the balance sheet date is at its full value. In con-
junction with the implementation of new IFRS standards as 
of January 1st 2018, the company performed an assessment 
based on applicable rules, and this has resulted in an adjust-
ment of the carrying amount in the opening balance of 2018. 
See Note 25 for more information.

Interest Rate Risk
The company is, to a limited extent, exposed to risk with 
regard to future interest rate fluctuations, beyond the 
above-mentioned currency exposure, and there are low de-
posit rates on surplus liquidity, which are managed based on 
a low-risk strategy. The company’s excess liquidity is placed 
on the account with DNB Bank ASA.

A significant increase in the overall interest rate level may ad-
versely affect the company’s results. Increased interest rate 
risk can also affect capital costs and reduce the possibility of 
acquiring new capital in the future, if necessary

Ability to Meet Liquidity Requirements and to Finance 
Future Operations
There is a risk that the company will need additional financ-
ing in the future; for example, due to lower sales revenues 
or higher costs than expected, investment in new business 
areas, or due to unforeseen debt or other investments. The 
company cannot guarantee that it will be able to obtain nec-
essary capital, either as equity and / or foreign capital, at ac-
ceptable terms and within the required timeframe.

In recent years, NattoPharma has been through a phase where research and development has been a major focus. With a suc-
cessful development of a synthetic alternative to the company’s natural vitamin K2, and a production process that was fully 
operational in 2017 and further being developed in 2018 and 2019, the Board and the Management are very positive about the 
future prospects. Developments in the vitamin K2 markets as an ingredient in health and nutraceutical products are still in the 
early phase, and the Board believes strongly that NattoPharma is well positioned to take a significant part of this market as it is 
further developed and mature.

MARKET OUTLOOK

Frode M. Bohan
Chairman

Oslo, April 29th, 2019

Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA

Stefan Halldên
Board Member

Sjur Thorsheim
Board Member

Katarzyna Maresz
Board Member

Annette Elmqvist 
Board Member

Kjetil Ramsøy
NattoPharma CEO



ANNUAL REPORT 2018 50NATTOPHARMATHE NUMBERSPARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTSBOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONSOLIDATED SFINANCIAL STATEMENTS APM49

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Non-Current Assets

Intangible Assets

Goodwill 10 7 507 7 426

Other Intangible Assets 10 34 562 36 759

Total Intangible Assets 42 069 44 185

Tangible Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 11 601 1 715

Total Tangible Assets 601 1 715

Financial Assets

Other Long-Term Receivables 24 40 275 57 500

Other Financial Assets 0 168

Total Financial Assets 40 275 57 668

Total Non-Current Assets 82 945 103 569

Current Assets

Inventory 13 11 565 12 953

Trade Receivable 14 21 943 19 526

Other Receivables 14 12 217 7 586

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 18 655 13 558

Total Current Assets 64 379 53 624

Total Assets 147 324 157 193

ASSETS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Revenue

Operating Revenue 4 101 722 66 418

Other Revenue 4 5 519 1 306

Total Operating and Other Revenue 107 241 67 724

Operating Expenses

Cost of Goods Sold -57 978 -35 013

Personnel Cost 5, 6 -28 433 -19 652

Depriciation and Amortisation 10, 11 -7 278 -7 364

Other Operating Expenses 7 -15 760 -10 301

Total Operating Expenses -109 449 -72 330

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) -2 208 -4 606

Financial Items

Interest Income 2 837 100

Interest Expense -201 -22

Other Financial Income/Expense -134 -95

Net Currency Gain/Loss 753 -135

Net Financial Items 3 255 -152

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 1 047 -4 759

Income Tax Expense 8 630 678

Profit/(Loss) from Continued Operations 1 677 -4 080

Result from Discontinued Operations (After Tax) 22 0 27 071

Net Profit/(Loss) 1 677 22 991

Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 9 0.09 -0.23

Diluted Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 9 0.09 -0.23

Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations 9 0.09 1.31

Diluted Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations 9 0.09 1.24

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Net Profit/(Loss) 1 677 22 991

Translation Differences 799 3 574

Total Other Comprehensive Income 2 477 26 565

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 2 477 26 565

STATEMENT OF INCOME

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 1 047 22 312

Depreciation and Amortization 10, 11 7 278 7 364

Non-Cash Items from Sale of Pharma Business 22, 24 0 -35 498

Other Non-Cash Items 6 1 582 2 511

Changes in Working Capital Items:

Inventory 13 1 388 -9 186

Trade Receivables 14 -2 417 -2 311

Trade Payables 4 054 4 348

Other Current Items -6 444 -768

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 6 488 -11 229

Cash Flow from Investment Activities

Investments in Property, Plant and Equipment 11 -227 -544

Investments in Intangible Assets 10 -3 919 -320

Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 11 489 0

Proceeds from Long-Term Loan 24 1 500 0

Net Cash Flows from Investment Activities -2 157 -864

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Share Issue/Transaction Costs 16 429 6 939

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 429 6 939

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 4 759 -5 154

Foreign Currency Effect 337 -1 106

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per January 1st 13 558 19 818

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per December 31st 18 655 13 558

Amounts in NOK 1000 Share Capital Own Shares Share 
Premium

Accumulated 
Loss

Translation 
Adjustment

Total 
Equity

Equity as per January 1st, 2017 52 709 -21 113 087 -92 286 2 717 76 207

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period 22 991 3 574 26 565

Equity Based Remuneration 1 293 1 293

Share Issue Including Transaction Costs 1 680 5 259 6 939

Equity as per December 31st, 2017 54 389 -21 118 346 -68 002 6 291 111 004

Equity as per January 1st, 2018 54 389 -21 118 346 -68 002 6 291 111 004

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period 1 677 799 2 477

Equity Based Remuneration 1 582 1 582

Effect from Implementation of IFRS 9 -5 750 -5 750

Share Issue Including Transaction Costs 150 279 429

Equity as per December 31st, 2018 54 539 -21 118 625 -70 492 7 091 109 742

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Frode M. Bohan
Chairman

Oslo, April 29th, 2019

Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA

Stefan Halldên
Board Member

Sjur Thorsheim
Board Member

Katarzyna Maresz
Board Member

Annette Elmqvist 
Board Member

Kjetil Ramsøy
NattoPharma CEO

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share Capital 16 54 518 54 368

Share Premium Reserve 118 625 118 346

Accumulated Loss -70 492 -68 002

Translation Differences 7 091 6 291

Total Equity 109 742 111 004

Non-Current Liabilities

Deferred Tax Liability 8 3 691 4 393

Deferred Revenue from Sale of Business 24 12 027 22 002

Total Non-Current Liabilities 15 707 26 395

Current Liabilities

Trade Payables 18 579 14 526

Other Current Liabilities 17 3 285 5 268

Total Current Liabilities 21 864 19 793

Total Liabilities 37 582 46 188

Total Equity and Liabilities 147 324 157 193

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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2.5 - TANGIBLE ASSETS

Tangible assets are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated depre-
ciation and impairment losses. Acquisition costs include costs directly 
related to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation is calculated on a 
straight-line basis based on the expected useful life of the assets, as 
well as the expected residual value. When incurring expenses related 
to the asset after the investment, expenses are capitalized to the ex-
tent that it is likely that the company will have future economic bene-
fits from them and that the expenses can be measured reliably.

An annual assessment of the depreciation plan is made taking into ac-
count the remaining useful life and residual value. In case of changes 
in useful life and net asset value, the remaining depreciation plan is 
changed accordingly. Gains and losses on disposals of tangible fixed 
assets are recognized in the profit and loss account and make up the 
difference between the selling price and the book value

2.6 - RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs are expensed continuously during 
the period in which they are incurred, with the exception of those 
cases where the criteria for capitalization in accordance with IAS 38 
- Intangible Assets have been met. In these cases, the asset will be 
capitalized in the company’s balance sheet and depreciated over the 
estimated remaining life of the asset. The assessment of the fulfilment 
of the criteria in IAS 38, as well as the expected useful life of the capi-
talized assets, is based on management’s estimates and estimates and 
may be subject to uncertainty. 

2.7 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets purchased externally are measured at cost. Acquisi-
tion cost of intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions is mea-
sured at fair value at acquisition date. In subsequent measurement, 
intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

2.8 - IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The group reviews the need for impairment of goodwill and intangi-
ble assets on an annual basis by assessing the recoverable amount of 
each cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  The recover-
able amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal, and value 
in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a discount rate before tax and 
taking into consideration other relevant market factors.  When the re-
coverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is less that the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Any impairment 
is recognised immediately in the group income statement and is not 
subsequently reversed.  

For all other non-financial assets, apart from inventories and deferred 
tax assets, the group performs impairment testing where there are 
indications of impairment. If such an indicator exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the im-
pairment loss (if any). The recoverable amount is the higher of value 
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. If the recoverable amount is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the Group income statement.  

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recov-
erable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount is limited 
to the capitalized value the asset would have had after depreciation/
amortisation if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. 

Reversals are recognised immediately as a credit to the Consolidated 
Statement of Income.

2.9 - INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group accounts for investments in associates using the equity 
method, as stated in IAS 28. 

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influ-
ence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee without the power to 
control or jointly control those policies. If an entity holds, directly or 
indirectly, 20 percent or more of the voting power of the investee, it is 
presumed that the entity has significant influence. 

Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in 
an associate is recognised at cost. Any deferred revenue arising from 
a transaction with an associate is netted against the investment at a 
Group level. The carrying amount is then increased or decreased to 
recognise the investor’s share of the subsequent profit or loss of the 
investee and to include that share of the investee’s profit or loss in the 
investor’s profit or loss. Distributions received from an investee reduce 
the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying 
amount may also be necessary for changes in the investor’s propor-
tionate interest in the investee and for the investee’s other compre-
hensive income.

2.10 - INVENTORIES 

Inventories are measured based on the FIFO principle, and on the low-
est value of historic cost and net realisable value. 

2.11 - RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables and other receivables are initially recognised in the 
balance sheet at fair value and measured at amortized cost less provi-
sion for expected credit loss (ECL model in IFRS 9). Provisions for losses 
are made on the basis of an individual assessment of the individual 
receivables, and such provision occurs if there are indications that the 
company will not be able to collect the nominal amount of the claim. 
The provision is recognized in the income statement in the period it 
arises.

2.12 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits and matur-
ities within three months of the date of placement.

2.13 - SHARE CAPITAL

SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. When issuing new shares, ex-
penses associated with the issue are recorded as a reduction of equity.

COST OF EQUITY TRANSACTIONS
Transaction costs directly related to equity transactions and tax effects 
on equity transactions are recognized directly in equity after deduc-
tion of tax

2.14 - GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Public grants are recognized in a systematic manner over the periods 
in which the company recognizes costs that the grant is intended to 
compensate for. Grants are presented as part of other operating ex-
penses, i.e. net of associated costs.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

The Group is a publicly traded liability company established in 2004, 
and the head office is located in Lilleakerveien 2B, in the municipality 
of Oslo. The Group’s product is the MenaQ7® brand, which is based on a 
substance Menaquinone-7, the natural vitamin K2, as well as a synthet-
ically manufactured product that was commercialized in the second 
half of 2015.

2.3 - SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group operates one segment for reporting of Operating Revenues.
It offers vitamin K2, in natural and synthetic form, in several different 
geographic markets. Management considers risk profile and profitabil-
ity to be approximately equal in all these geographic markets. Man-
agement and Board therefore consider the company’s operation as a 
unit in assessments and decisions regarding allocation of resources 
and investments. The Group’s operations are primarly located in Po-
land, Cyprus and in the USA, with headquarters in Norway.

Activities that are not allocated to Operating Revenue are presented as 
Other Revenue. This primarly involves recharges to associated compa-
nies for services provided and some other shared expenses and proj-
ects.

Transactions and balances between the companies are eliminated at 
a Group level. Sale of products (Operating Revenue) between compa-
nies in the Group are carried out based on a cost plus method and in 
accordance with the arm’s length principle. Operating Expenses are 
allocated between the entities in the Group based partly on External 
Operating Revenue in the entities and partly on a functional analysis of 
which entity should incur the expenses. 

2.4 - FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION AND TRANSACTIONS

FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The accounts are measured in the currency used primarily in the eco-
nomic area in which the entity operates (functional currency). The ac-
counts are presented in Norwegian kroners (NOK), which is the curren-
cy of the parent company.

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES IN FOREIGN CURRENCY
The functional currency of the Group’s entities is the currency of their 
primary economic environment and transactions are entered into the 
accounts in the unit’s functional currency.  In the individual companies, 
transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange 
at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities are trans-
lated at year-end rates and any resulting exchange rate differences are 
taken to the income statement.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries reported in their 
functional currencies are translated to NOK, the Group’s presentation 
currency, at year-end exchange rates according to Norges Bank. In-
come and expense items are translated to NOKs at the monthly aver-
age rate.  

Differences arising from the retranslation of opening net assets of sub-
sidiaries, together with differences arising from the translation of the 
net results for the year for subsidiaries, are recognised in net currency 
gain/loss.

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The annual accounts have been prepared for the Group for 2018 with 
comparative figures for 2017 for the Consolidated Statement of In-
come, Other Comprehensive Income, Financial Position, Cash Flows 
and Changes in Equity. These principles have been applied consistent-
ly throughout all periods presented, unless otherwise stated in the 
description.

2.1  BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements of NattoPharma ASA have been 
prepared in accordance with EU-approved IFRSs and related interpre-
tations, as well as the additional Norwegian disclosure requirements 
that follow from the Accounting Act, Stock Exchange Regulations and 
Stock Exchange Rules, which will be applied per December 31st, 2018. 
The accounts have been prepared based on historical cost.

Changes in accounting policies due to new or amended standards are 
performed retroactively unless otherwise specifically determined by a 
current standard. Recurring effect requires that results from previous 
periods and opening balance for such period have been restated.

2.2 - CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

As at December 31st, 2018, NattoPharma is a group consisting of a par-
ent company with two subsidiaries, NattoPharma USA, Inc. located in 
the United States and NattoPharma R & D Ltd, which is registered in 
Cyprus.

The consolidated financial statements show the overall financial result 
and the total financial position when the parent company NattoPhar-
ma ASA and its controlled ownership interests in other companies are 
presented as one financial unit. All companies have applied consistent 
principles, and all internal relationships between the companies have 
been eliminated. Wholly-owned subsidiaries have been consolidated 
100% line by line in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date on which the Group has control and is consolidated until the date 
that control ceases.  If the Group has control but owns less than 100% 
of its subsidiaries, the minority share of profit after tax and equity is 
presented on its own lines. 

Investments in associates where the company has non-controlling in-
terest, are recognized using the equity method.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition meth-
od. Acquisitions will be accounted for from the time the Group has 
control, normally from the date all public approvals are registered. 
Assets and liabilities are valued at fair value. The residual value of the 
acquisition will constitute goodwill. If there are non-controlling inter-
ests in the acquired company, these will receive their share of assets 
and liabilities transferred. Transactions with non-controlling interests 
will be recorded against equity.

The Groups’s shares were listed on Oslo Børs’ list Oslo Axess January 
30th, 2008. The Group was delisted from NASDAQ First North in Stock-
holm on September 25th, 2018.

The accounts were approved by the Board on April 29th, 2019.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Lease incentives (e.g. rent free period) will be recognised as part of the 
measurement of the right of use assets and lease liabilities whereas un-
der IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease liability incentive, 
amortised as a reduction of rental expenses on a straight line basis.

Under IFRS 16, right of use assets will be tested for impairment in ac-
cordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. This will replace the previ-
ous requirement to recognise a provision for onerous lease contracts. 

For short term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of 
low value assets (such as personal computers and office furniture), the 
Group will opt to recognise a lease expense on a straight line basis as 
permitted by IFRS 16.

In measuring the present value of the lease liability under IFRS 16, the 
standard requires that the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate be used 
as discount factor if the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily de-
termined. In establishing NattoPharma’s lease liabilities, the incremen-
tal borrowing rates used as discount factors in discounting payments 
are established based on an average of estimated loan terms. Natto-
Pharma currently has no debt, and the most reliable source of infor-
mation is therefore determined to be an average of the Group’s own 
information on potential loan terms from different sources.

As at December 31st, 2018, the current assessment is that the Group 
has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of approximately 
NOK 3.2 million. The present value of the lease commitments is approx-
imately NOK 2.9 million.

In the opening balance of 2019, the Group will recognise a right-of-use 
asset of NOK 2.9 million and a lease liability of NOK 2.9 million in re-
spect of all these leases. 

In the consolidated statement of income, operating lease costs will be 
replaced by depreciation and interest expenses. For leases allocated to 
activities which are capitalised, the costs will continue to be expensed 
as before, through depreciation of the asset involved. In the cash flow 
statement, lease down-payments will be presented as a cash flow used 
in financing activities under IFRS 16. Previously, operating lease costs 
were presented within cash flows from operations.

FINANCIAL LEASES
NattoPharma has no financial leases as at December 31st, 2018.

New standards, interpretations and amendments implemented in the 
2018 financial statements.

IFRS 9 AND IFRS 15
The Group was required to adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers from January 1st, 2018. The 
group assessed the impact that the initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 
15 had on its consolidated financial statements.  The table below sum-
marises the impact of the adoption of these standards on the group’s 
equity as at January 1st, 2018. 

The total adjustment to the opening balance of the group’s equity was 
NOK -5.75 million.  This is a result of a decrease of NOK 5.75 million in 
retained earnings due to impairment losses on financial assets, being 
the vendor loan agreement to Kaydence Pharma AS, recognised on the 
initial application of IFRS 9.

2.20 – CASH FLOW

Cash flow analysis is done according to the indirect method.

2.21 – EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Events after the balance sheet date that provide information about 
conditions that existed on the balance sheet date or events indicat-
ing circumstances arising after the balance sheet date with accounting 
consequences, will be accounted for if significant.

2.22 – CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND INFORMATION

As at the date of these financial statements, the following standards 
were in issue, but not yet effective.  The Group has not applied these 
standards in the preparation of the financial statements, and has not 
adopted any new or amended standards early: 

• IFRS 16 Leases (mandatory effect for periods beginning on or af-
ter January 1st, 2019)

• Changes to other standards effective January 1st, 2019 and be-
yond, such as amendments and clarifications in IAS 19, IFRS 3, 
IAS 12 and IAS 23 have been assessed and concluded to have no 
material impact on the 2018 financial statements or disclosures.

As at the date of these financial statements, the following standards 
were effective, with mandatory effect for periods beginning on or after 
January 1st, 2018:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments not yet effective.

IFRS 16 - LEASES
IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease 
arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements for both 
lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance 
including IAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it be-
comes effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 
1st, 2018. The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group will be 
January 1st, 2019. 

The Group has decided on using the cumulative catch-up approach 
— under which the Standard is applied retrospectively with the cumu-
lative effect recognised at the date of initial application in accordance 
with IFRS 16.C7 to C13. 

OPERATING LEASES
IFRS 16 will change how the Group accounts for leases previously clas-
sified as operating leases under IAS 17, which were off balance sheet.

On initial application of IFRS 16, for all leases (except as noted below), 
the Group will:

• Recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities in the consol-
idated statement of financial position, initially measured at the 
present value of the future lease payments

• Recognise depreciation of right of use assets and interest on 
lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

• Separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion 
(presented within financing activities) and interest (presented 
within operating activities) in the consolidated cash flow state-
ment.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

2.15 - LEASING

OPERATING LEASES
For the 2017 and 2018 financial year, leases where the most significant 
of the risk and return associated with ownership of the asset lies with 
the landlord, are classified as operating leases. Lease payments are 
classified as operating expenses and are recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the contract period.

FINANCIAL LEASES
The company has no financial leases at December 31st, 2018. 

2.16 - TAXES

TAX PAYABLE
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax pay-
able or receivable in respect of previous years.  The amount recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements reflects the best estimate of 
the tax amount expected to be paid or received.  It is measured using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

DEFERRED TAX
Deferred taxes are based on the temporary differences that arise when 
taxation authorities recognise and measure assets and liabilities with 
rules that differ from the principles of the consolidated financial state-
ments.  They also arise on temporary differences resulting from tax 
losses carried forward.  

No deferred tax is recognised for the initial recognition of goodwill and 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is 
not a business combination and at the time of the transaction it affects 
neither the accounting or taxable profit.   

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and is recognised only to the extent that probable sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow the assets to be recovered.

2.17 – PENSIONS AND SHARE-BASED REMUNERATION

PENSION
The company operates a pension contribution plan scheme for em-
ployees.  A defined contribution pension scheme is one under which 
members pay contributions to an independently administered fund, 
into which the group also pays contributions based upon a fixed per-
centage of the members’ annual salaries.  Members’ benefits upon 
retirement are then determined by the amount of contributions paid 
into the fund, together with the performance of the investments into 
which those contributions have been invested.  Members are able to 
choose the investments into which their contributions are invested, 
and as a result any risks associated with either the future value of ben-
efits and the performance of the assets invested lie with the member. 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
The Group uses options made up in equity to pay for services. The fair 
value of the options or services received is recognized in the income 
statement over the vesting period. Share-based payment to employ-
ees and others providing equivalent services is measured at fair value 
of the equity instruments granted. The Group uses the Black Scholes 
model to measure the fair value of options and subscription rights. Vol-
atility is calculated based on historical volatility.

2.18 - PROVISIONS

Provisions arise when NattoPharma has legal or otherwise present ob-
ligations as a result of past events. The requirement for a provision is 
that the probability that the company will meet the obligation in the 
future is considered by the company to be over 50%. In addition, it 
must be possible to estimate the amounts of the commitment reliably.

Provisions are measured at the present value of expected payments 
to meet the obligation.  Accruals are made when the company has an 
actual or assumed obligation regarding accrued non-billed items that 
are likely to be paid and where the amount is adequately calculated. 
Accruals are made with pre-tax amounts that the company expects to 
pay and reflects market estimates of interest on the amounts and risks 
associated with the liability. Increases in accrual due to interest accru-
als are recognized as interest expenses.

2.19 – REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue recognition is done in accordance with the five-step model in 
IFRS 15, which Is based on performance obligations in customer con-
tracts and when control of a good or service transfers to a customer.  

The group is in the business of selling both “natural” and synthetical-
ly produced vitamin K2; MK7 to both manufacturers and distributors 
of finished products.  In addition to this the group also provides tran-
sitional services of management, R&D and accounting to associated 
companies.

SALES OF GOODS
The contract with the customer begins following receipt and confirma-
tion of the customer purchase order. The allocation of the transaction 
price to the performance obligation is a one to one relationship, with 
no bundled product offerings. The Group expects the revenue recogni-
tion to occur at a point in time when control of the asset is transferred 
to the customer. According to the standard Sales Terms and Conditions 
for the Group products are typically delivered EX WORKS at the com-
pany warehouse, and therefore the performance obligation is fulfilled 
when the goods are made available for collection, and this is the point 
at which control of the product transfers to the customer, and revenue 
is recognised. Under the standard Sales Terms and Conditions, the re-
turns policy only allows for replacement of goods in the event of de-
fects, when these are notified to the group in writing within 30 days of 
the transfer of control. The group can typically objectively determine 
that control of the goods has been transferred to the customer in ac-
cordance with the agreed-upon specifications in the contract.

RENDERING OF SERVICES
Services, mainly consisting of accounting services and other recharges 
of project costs, are sold separately and are not bundled with the sales 
of product. The services are satisfied over time given that the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 
group, hence revenue is recognised for these service contracts over 
time.

ADVANCES RECEIVED FROM CUSTOMERS
The Group occasionally receives short-term advances from customers.  
This normally happens for new customers where prepayment is ap-
plicable until a sufficient credit check has been established, or where 
customers have a history of late payment.  The period between the re-
ceipt of the advance and the transfer of the goods to the customer in 
these situations is short, and the payment terms are not designed to 
provide financing. Hence, there is no significant financing element to 
these contracts.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.
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Amount in NOK 1000 2018 2017

North America 62 976 30 552

South America 5 111 1 696 

Europe 24 662 24 148 

Rest of the World 8 973 10 022

Total Operating Revenue 101 722 66 418 

NOTE 4 OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE

OPERATING REVENUE
The company operates one segment for reporting purposes. The company offers vitamin K2, in natural and synthetic form, in several different geographic 
markets. Management considers risk profile and profitability to be approximately equal in all these geographic markets. Management and Board therefore 
consider the company’s operation as a unit in assessments and decisions regarding allocation of resources and investments

The table below show Operating Revenue broken down by the geographical areas where the Group sells its goods. The Group’s operations are primarly 
located in Poland, Cyprus and in the USA, with headquarters in Norway.

OTHER REVENUE
Activities that are not allocated to Operating Revenue are presented as Other Revenue. For 2018, it primarly involves recharges to Kaydence Pharma AS for 
services provided and some other shared expenses and projects. For 2017, the revenue also includes services provided to, and shared fees with, Eqology 
AS and TG Montgomery AS.

Amount in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Recharges of Personnel Cost 3 875 1 118 

Recharges of Other OpEx 1 492 188 

Sale of Fixed Assets 152 0

Total Other Revenue 5 519 1 306 

INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions and balances between the companies are eliminated at a Group level. Sale of products (Operating Revenue) between companies in the Group 
(NattoPharma ASA, NattoPharma R&D Ltd. and NattoPharma USA Inc.) are carried out based on a cost plus method and in accordance with the arm’s length 
principle. Operating Expenses are allocated between the entities in the Group based partly on External Operating Revenue in the entities and partly on a 
functional analysis of which entity should incur the expenses.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements is in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the use 
of accounting policies requires management to make judgments, es-
timates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. The estimates and underlying as-
sumptions are based on historical experience and various other fac-
tors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and the 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the esti-
mate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. The accounting policies in which judgments, esti-
mates and assumptions may significantly differ from actual results are 
discussed below.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group assesses the need for impairment of goodwill on an annual 
basis. In addition, goodwill is tested for impairment if there are indica-
tors of impairment. This implies that the value in use of the cash-gener-
ating unit as goodwill is estimated. Management must estimate future 
cash flows from the cash-generating unit and select a discount rate 
to calculate a present value of these cash flows. Changes to current 
estimates may lead to impairment losses in future periods. See Note 10 
for further information.

NOTE 3 IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND DISCRETIONARY ASSESSMENTS

Deferred tax assets from deferred tax losses are capitalized only to the 
extent that the corresponding future taxable profit is probable. The 
company’s management has considered it unlikely that the deferred 
tax asset will be realized during the next income years, thus neglecting 
to balance the deferred tax asset. See Note 8 for more information re-
lated to the calculation of deferred taxes. 

IMPORTANT DISCRETIONARY JUDGEMENTS
Accounting and measurement of intangible assets: Applying the crite-
ria for when development costs qualify for recognition as an intangible 
asset, and subsequent measurement are subject to significant discre-
tion from management. The cost and recognition of internally gener-
ated intangible assets involves judgement as it includes work done by 
own employees. Although projects have been activated, uncertainty 
about the market and future margin development may exist, and con-
sequently it is difficult to assess the recoverable amount in relation to 
impairment tests.

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ replaced IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’ from January 1st, 2018.  Based on its 
assessment, the group does not believe that the new classification re-
quirements for financial assets and financial liabilities has a a material 
impact on transition to IFRS 9. Financial assets currently measured at 
amortised cost under IAS 39, in particular trade receivables and long-
term receivables, will meet the contractual cash flow characteristics 
test and are held within a business model whose objective is to collect 
the contractual cash flows and will continue to be measured at amor-
tised cost under IFRS 9.

The Group applied the simplified approach to recognise lifetime ECL 
for its trade receivables as required by IFRS 9. For other financial as-
sets measured at amortised cost, the group initially measured the loss 
allowances on a 12-month ECL basis, being the ECLs that result from 
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date 
and will assess at each reporting date whether a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred.

The impact of the new impairment model was reviewed via the iden-
tification and analysis of the credit risk associated with counterparties, 
being trade receivables and other long-term receivables. The 2017 
balance of NOK 57.5 million in long-term receivables represents the 
seller’s credit provided from NattoPharma to Kaydence Pharma AS on 
the sale of the pharma business.  

This review reflects historical data, being the experience of losses in-
curred due to default and forward- looking information.

For trade receivables, the group has never experienced any losses due 
to default. However, in 2018 sales have increased considerably, with 
accelerated growth especially in the second half of the year, and the 
highest ever quarterly sales revenue in the final quarter. The result of 
this has been an increase in the customer base, and whilst most sales 
continue to be generated by a handful of the larger customer accounts 
there is an increased risk that some receivables will become irrecover-
able.  Because of these considerations a bad-debt provision was taken 
for NOK 130 000 in the 2018 financial statements.

The other long-term receivable of NOK 57.5 million as at December 
31st, 2017, is the vendor loan agreement to Kaydence Pharma AS as 
disclosed in Note 25. The Group believes in a high likelihood of suc-
cess for Kaydence Pharma AS, based on the strong data accumulated 
over years of investments in research and clinical studies, and is there-
fore optimistic about the potential of pharmaceutical applications of 
vitamin K2-MK7 and the financial performance of Kaydence Pharma.  
However, whilst the entity has potential for large value creation and 
financial return, when assessing the 12 months ECL of this financial 
asset the high-risk profile of this entity must be considered as part of 
the forward-looking assessment.  Accordingly, the grou estimated the 
probability of default at 10% with an exposure at default of NOK 57.5 
million, resulting in an increased loss allowance of NOK 5.75 million on 
transition to IFRS 9 on January 1st, 2018. 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

The group does not apply hedge accounting under IAS 39 and there-
fore has no transition effects from the adoption of IFRS 9. 

The Group utilized the exemption allowing it not to restate compara-
tive information for prior periods. As a result, the group recognised the 
impact of the adoption of the new standard in the opening retained 
earnings as at January 1st, 2018. 

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ was effective for pe-
riods beginning on or after January 1st, 2018. It replaced IAS 18 which 
covered contracts for goods and services, and IAS 11 which covered 
construction contracts. IFRS 15 introduced a five-step model to the 
timing of revenue recognition based on performance obligations in 
customer contracts, in which revenue is recognised when control of a 
good or service transfers to a customer.  

The Group adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with 
the effect of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of 
initial application (i.e. January 1st, 2018).  As a result, the Group has not 
restated the comparative periods.

SALES OF GOODS
For contracts with customers in which the sale of K2 is generally ex-
pected to be the only performance obligation, adoption of IFRS 15 
does not have a significant impact on the Group’s revenue and profit 
and loss. 

RENDERING OF SERVICES
Services mainly consisting of accounting services and other recharg-
es of project costs, are sold separately and are not bundled with the 
sales of product.  The Group concluded that the services are satisfied 
over time given that the customer simultaneously receives and con-
sumes the benefits provided by the group.  Therefore, under IFRS 15 
the Group would continue to recognise revenue for these service con-
tracts over time.    

ADVANCES RECEIVED FROM CUSTOMERS
The group concluded that there is no significant financing element to 
the revenue contracts.  

Based on the review undertaken by the group of the main types of 
commercial arrangements used with customers under this model it 
has been concluded that the group does not have a material impact 
on its revenue recognition principles and no adjustments to opening 
retained earnings as at January 1st, 2018, were identified.

Impact of Adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15

Amounts in NOK 1000 As Reported at 
December 31st, 2017

Adjustments Due 
to Adoption of IFRS 9

Adjustments Due 
to Adoption of IFRS 15

Adjusted Opening 
Balance at January 1st, 2018

Retained Earnings/
(Accumulated Losses)

-68 050 -5 750 - -73 800
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2018 2017

Number of Options Average Exercise Price Number of Options Average Exercise Price

Outstanding January 1st 1 122 500 10.13 512 500 9.06

Awarded During the Year 890 350 9.02 615 000 10.85

Terminated During the Year - 42 050 10.13 -5 000 11.20

Exercised During the Year - 50 000                          8.78 - -

Matured During the Year - 462 500                          9.04 - -

Outstanding per December 31st        1 458 300 9.79 1 122 500 10.13

Board of Directors 500 000 9.75 500 000 9.81

Senior Executives 125 100 9.68 237 000 10.23

Other Employees and Partners 833 200 9.83 385 500 10.14

Outstanding per December 31st        1 458 300 9.79 1 122 500 10.13

OPTIONS GRANTED IN 2019
Based on the power of attorney granted at the annual general meeting of NattoPharma ASA on May 30th, 2018, and the option program related to defined 
operational objectives approved by the Board of Directors in 2018, the Board of Directors of NattoPharma has in board proceedings February 12th, 2019 
granted a total of 292 500 options to executive management, other employees and strategic partners. The options have an exercise price equal the closing 
price on Oslo Axess on February 12th, 2019, which is equal to NOK 9.00. Options are granted based on performance against defined criteria and metrics. The 
options granted are vested immediately and may be exercised up to and including March 31st, 2023.

NOTE 6 SHARE BASED REMUNERATION CONT.

Specification of remuneration to the auditor:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Statutory Audit 424 447

Tax Advice 126 39

Other Services 247 159

Total Remuneration to the Auditor 796 645

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Property Expenses 1 404  1 280

Travel Cost 2 065 1 797

Sales and Marketing Cost 2 330 1 975

Audit, Legal and Accounting Expenses 2 342 1 573

Research and Development Cost 4 811 1 544

Other Operating Costs 2 808 2 132

Total Other Operating Expenses 15 760 10 301

NOTE 7 SPECIFICATION OF OTHER OPERATING COSTS

Amount in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Salary Cost 23 628 15 166 

Employer Tax Cost 2 375 1 966

Employee Related Insurance 294 295

Remuneration to Board and Election Committee 250 241

Share and Option Cost 1 582 1 293

Other Personnel Cost 304 691

Total Personnel Cost 28 433 19 652 

Number of Man-Years in Norway 7 7

Number of Man-Years Outside of Norway 9 7

NOTE 5 SALARY, PERSONNEL COSTS AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Specification of salary and remuneration to senior executives is men-
tioned in Note 21. 

The company is required to have a compulsory pension plan in accor-
dance with the Norwegian Act on Compulsory Occupational Pensions 
(“Compulsory Occupational Pensions Act”). The company has signed a 
defined contribution pension agreement with Storebrand Livsforsikring 
AS, which goes beyond the requirements of this Act.

The agreement is based on a premium payment of 3.5% for income be-
tween 1G and 7.1G (G = 96 883) and 6.5% of income between 7.1 and 
12G. The scheme includes a disability insurance. In addition, a group life 
scheme has been agreed based on a replacement equivalent to 15G at 
death. Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, the 
Board has prepared a statement on the determination of salary and other 
remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives.

NOTE 6 SHARE BASED REMUNERATION

OPTIONS GRANTED IN 2018
Based on the power of attorney granted at the annual general meet-
ing of NattoPharma ASA on May 15th, 2017, and the option program 
related to defined operational objectives approved by the Board of 
Directors in 2017, the Board of Directors of NattoPharma in board 
proceedings February 7th, 2018, granted a total of 560 350 options to 
executive management, other employees and strategic partners. Op-
tions are granted based on performance against defined criteria and 
metrics. The options have an exercise price equal the closing price on 
Oslo Axess on February 7th, 2018, which is equal to NOK 9.05. Options 
are granted based on performance against defined criteria and met-
rics. The options granted are vested immediately and may be exercised 
up to and including March 31st, 2023.

The Board of Directors received through a resolution at the Annual 
General Assembly on May 30th, 2018, a total of 300 000 options as form 
of remuneration related to the work performed during 2017/2018. The 
options are vested immediately upon grant and can be exercised with-
in April 30th, 2020. The strike price is NOK 9.00 per share option and is 
equal to the closing share price on the Oslo Stock Exchange on May 
30th, 2018. None of these options are exercised at balance sheet date.

Name Granted Expired Prior to Grant After Grant

Kjetil Ramsøy 88 600 -37 500 74 000 125 100

In conjunction with the hiring of the new Senior Vice President Global 
Sales & Marketing in NattoPharma and based on the power of attorney 
granted at the annual general meeting of NattoPharma ASA on May 
30th, 2018, the Board of Directors of NattoPharma in board proceedings 
June 19th, 2018, granted a total of 30 000 options to Christopher Speed 
who started in the new position on June 18th, 2018. The options have 
an exercise price equal the closing price on Oslo Axess on June 19th, 
2018, which is equal to NOK 8.80. The options granted are fully vest-
ed on December 16th, 2018 and may be exercised up to and including 
March 31st, 2023.
 
The following persons on the executive management team have been 
granted options:

Expenses associated with share and option allocations in the accounts for 2018 are presented in the table below;

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Share-Based Remuneration - -

Option Awards 1 582 1 293

Costs Related to Share- and Option-Based Remuneration 1 582 1 293
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Basic Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual profit on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year less 
own shares held as at December 31st, 2018.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Annual Result Including Discontinued Operations 1 755 22 991

Profit from Continued Operations 1 755 -4 080

Weighted Average Number of Shares Issued 18 137 17 613

Weighted Average Number of Shares Diluted 19 038 18 594

Basic Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 0.09 -0.23

Diluted Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 0.09 -0.23

Basic Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations 0.09 1.31

Diluted Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations 0.09 1.24

See also Note 16 (Share Capital).

NOTE 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Amounts in NOK 1000 Goodwill Acquired 
Technology

Software Acquired 
Rights

Patents Assets Under 
Construction

Total Other 
Intangible 

Assets

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2017 6 857 54 957 1 189 1 099 1 798 0 59 043

Acquisitions 539 211 750

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 568 3 148 3 148

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2018 7 426 58 105 1 728 1 310 1 798 0 62 941

Acquisitions 2 845 3 919

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 81 0

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2018 7 507 58 105 2 204 1 908 1 798 2 845 66 860

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2017 0 17 015 0 953 1 688 0 19 656

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 0 5 632 317 159 110 6 218

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0 308 308

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2018 0 22 955 317 1 112 1 798 0 26 182

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 0 5 795 407 88 6 290

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0 -174 -174

Accumulated Depreciation, December 31st, 2018 0 28 576 724 1 200 1 798 0 32 298

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2018  7 507 29 529 1 480 708 0 2 845 34 562

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2017 7 426 35 150 1 411 198 0 0 36 759

NOTE 10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Deficit to carry forward is distributed among the following countries:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Losses to Carry Forward Tax Rate Unrecognized Deferred 
Tax Asset

Remaining Year of 
Progression

Norway 175 965 22.0% 38 712 Indefinite

USA 8 558 21.0% 1 797 Indefinite

Cyprus 0 12.5% 0 5  years

Total 184 523 40 509

The following table shows a reconciliation between expected tax based on profit before tax and nominal tax rate and actual tax expense/(income):

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Result Before Taxes 1 047 22 312

Nominal Tax Rate (Norway) 23% 24%

Expected Tax Expense 241 5 355

Tax Effect of Foreign Tax Rates 10 -207

Exchange Rate Effect 412 685

Tax Effect of Non-Taxable Income 0 0

Tax Effect on Non-Deductible Expenses 29 1

Tax Effect of SkatteFunn -319 -826

Change in Unrecognized Deferred Tax Asset -2 313 -7 020

Impact of Changes in Tax Rules and Rates 1 314 1 294

Transaction Costs Charged to Equity -2 0

Other 0 40

Taxes for the Year/(Income) -630 -678

Effective Tax Rate -60% -3%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Fixed Assets/Intangible Assets -4 287 -3 859

Balance on Deferred Gain and Loss Account -9 222 -12 576

Inventories - -

Accounting Provisions - -

Other Differences - 7 557

Loss to be Carried Forward 40 509 45 305

Total Deferred (Tax Liability)/Tax Benefit 27 000 36 427

Non-Capitalized Deferred (Tax Liability)/Tax Benefit 30 691 40 821

Capitalized Deferred (Tax Liability)/Tax Benefit -3 691 -4 393

Tax effects of temporary differences:

NOTE 8 TAX

Due to several years of operating and tax losses, the company has not recognized any deferred tax asset related to the carry forward tax losses.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Payable Tax 94 70

Change Deferred Tax -724 -749

Total Tax Income -630 -678

Tax expense for the year:
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Hardware Refurbishment 
of Rented Offices

Lab Equipment Total Fixed Assets

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2017 60 69 3 261 3 390

Acquisitions 318 318

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 194 194

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2018 60 387 3 455 3 902

Acquisitions 154 75 229

Disposals -2 032 -2 032

Exchange Rate Changes 12 12

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2018 214 474 1 423 2 110

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2017 60 1 919 980

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 38 1 108 1 146

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 61 61

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2018 60 39 2 088 2 187

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 94 57 835 986

Disposals -1 663 -1 663

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2018 154 96 1 260 1 509

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2018 60 378 163 601

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2017 0 348 1 367 1 715

NOTE 11 TANGIBLE ASSETS

The company uses straight-line depreciation for all tangible fixed assets.

The economic life of the assets is calculated as:
• Hardware (computer and other IT equipment):  linear 3 years
• Other investments:    linear 5 years

Amounts in NOK 1000 Ownership

NattoPharma USA, Inc., Edison, NJ, USA 100%

NattoPharma R&D Ldt., Nicosia, Cyprus 100%

Kaydence Pharma AS (Associate) (See Note 24) 46.41%

NOTE 12 SUBSIDIARIES/ASSOCIATE

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Finished Goods 11 565 12 953

Total 11 565 12 953

Inventory is entered at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The Group has made no obsolence accrual as at December 31st, 2018. Historical obsolence 
has been very low. Any obsolent products are returned, re-mixed and re-sold, or used for R&D or sampling.

NOTE 13 INVENTORY

Recoverable amount from cash generating unit (amounts in NOK million) in different variables for growth and discount rate: 

D
is

co
un

t R
at

e

Growth 2019

0% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80%

11% 89 474 112 898 136 320 183 160 230 005 276 853

13% 74 372 93 843 113 311 152 245 191 185 230 123

15% 63 596 80 245 96 893 130 186 163 483 196 780

17% 55 523 70 058 84 592 113 658 142 727 171 798

19% 49 250 62 143 75 036 100 819 126 605 152 390

21% 44 237 55 819 67 400 90 558 113 720 136 881

23% 40 142 50 649 61 160 82 174 103 190 124 208

ANNUAL IMPAIRMENT TEST
Goodwill and intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Nat-
toPharma R&D Ltd (Vitasynth Ltd) in 2013 and related synthetic K2 
process technology have been tested for impairment as at December 
31st, 2018. The investment of NOK 51.6 million is recorded in the parent 
company balance sheet statement.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating asset is estimated 
based on the calculation of value in use (VIU). VIU is calculated based 
on estimated operating cash flow (EBITDA), prepared by the Group’s 
management, adjusted for investments and changes in working cap-
ital. These assumptions are based on management’s best estimate at 
the accounting date and the cash flow estimates cover a five-year peri-
od in addition to a terminal value. Management has used an estimate 
of annual growth over the five-year period reflecting the structure 
management expects during the period, where the average five-year 
growth rate is approximately 10%. The terminal value is calculated at 
an annual rate of 1%. Expected margin from sales to external custom-
ers is set at 50% throughout the period. No significant investments are 
expected, and the cash flow is estimated to be positive from year 1. The 
discount rate used is 12.4%. The following sensitivity analysis has been 
made, where changes in discount rate and growth rate for the terminal 
value are used to visualize possible outcomes.

The company uses straight-line amortization for all intangible assets.

The economic life is intended for:
• Patent 1     10 years
• Patent 2 + 3     11 years
• Purchased synthetic K2 technology   10 years

The company has used regular reviews about the economic life of a 
patent. Normally, the life of a patent is estimated to be 15 years from 
the time a patent is registered.

For purchased patents in 2006, the remaining life is then estimated to 
be 10 and 11 years. Patents purchased in December 2012 will be de-
preciated over the remaining lifetime of 2.5 years. This is also the basis 
for depreciation.

The Assets Under Construction relates to an on-going production 
development project, capitalized in accordance with the criteria for 
recognition, identifiability, control and measurement in IAS 38. Amor-
tization will start during 2019 once the first phase of the project is com-
plete.

NOTE 10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONT.
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The Group is exposed to liquidity risk, currency risk, credit risk and risk 
related to interest rates.

LIQUIDITY RISK
NattoPharma is continuously focusing on Research and Development 
(R&D) of its production technologies, finding new ways to reduce costs 
and as the market continues to grow, as well as new distribution meth-
ods for vitamin K2 in general. During 2018, the company has added ad-
ditional capacity for its synthetic products. In the second half of 2018, 
the first phase of a development project was initiated to improve the 
production method of synthetic K2, This is estimated to result in a sig-
nificant increase in access to a commercially competitive product. At 
the same time, the company is investing in working capital to support 
the planned growth. 

Barring any unforeseen events, the management’s assessment is that 
the company’s liquidity by the end of 2018 plus the loan in January 
2019 from major shareholder Pro AS represented by Board member 
Sjur Thorsheim, and updated forecasts for the short and medium term, 
indicate that new share issues will not be required for operational 
needs. Any new investments, other than ordinary operations, may 
however entail the risk that future capital requirements will arise.

CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK
The expenses in the Group are mainly related to NOK, USD, and EUR, 
while revenues are mainly USD and EUR. The exposure to currency risk 
is continuously monitored. 

NOK development: Based on monthly average rates/yearly average 
rates in 2018, EUR has strengthened against Norwegian kroners by 
approximately 2.9%, while USD weakened by approximately 1.7%. The 
average exchange rate between EUR and USD has strengthened by 
4.6% in the favour of EUR.

NOTE 18 FINANCIAL RISK

The Group’s management and the Board have continuously assessed 
the risk and have not seen the need to implement measures to limit 
the currency risk.  The Group operates with differences currencies that 
all impact different parts of the financials, and this partly creates of a 
natural foreign exchange rate hedging situation. However, if necessary, 
financial instruments will be evaluated to reduce this exposure, espe-
cially where credit will be given to major customers. 

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk has been limited due to the use of advance payments on 
delivery for new customers, as well as limited credit for the largest cus-
tomers. This situation is changing as new contracts are negotiated with 
major international customers that require significant credit periods. 
This will place greater demands on monitoring and the follow-up of 
the continuous credit exposure, and the company has implemented 
credit evaluation and follow-up procedures to accommodate and mit-
igate this risk.

The Group has made a bad debt accrual of NOK 130 000 as at Decem-
ber 31st, 2018, related to specific customers. Otherwise, according to 
the management’s assessment, there is no significant risk of loss on 
any of the remaining outstanding receivables as at December 31st, 
2018. 

INTEREST RATE RISK
The company is, to a limited extent, exposed to risk with regard to fu-
ture interest rate fluctuations, beyond the above-mentioned currency 
exposure, and there are low deposit rates on surplus liquidity, which 
are managed based on a low-risk strategy. The company’s excess li-
quidity is placed on the account with DNB Bank ASA.

A significant increase in the overall interest rate level may adversely 
affect the company’s results. Increased interest rate risk can also affect 
capital costs and reduce the possibility of acquiring new capital in the 
future, if necessary.

Please refer to Note 2.22 for an assessment of the impact of implementation of IFRS 16. 

Non-capitalized liabilities in 2018 consist primarily of leases of office premises at Lilleaker in Oslo and in Edison, New Jersey, USA. The lease in Oslo were 
entered into in 2016 and expire in January 2022. The lease in New Jersey expire in September 2020. The rental price is adjusted upwards with the consumer 
price index annually. 

The company recorded NOK 1 404 234 in total rental costs for its premises in Norway and in the USA in 2018 (NOK 1 280 182 in 2017). This includes other 
property expenses, such as cleaning services, electricity and internet services.

Specification of contractual lease obligations, including joint costs, in nominal values: 

NOTE 19 NON-CAPITALIZED LIABILITIES

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Less than One Year 1 216 724

More than One Year, but Less than Five Years 1 977 3 018

Total 3 193          3 742

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

External Trade Receivables 21 943 19 526

VAT, SkatteFunn, etc.                 4 052                       5 158

Prepayments 3 371                          639

Other Receivables 4 794                       1 789

Total Trade and Other Receivables        34 160 27 112

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31st, 2018 includes payroll tax deductions of NOK 315 200 (2017: NOK 255 000) and a deposit account for costs 
associated with the company’s listing on NASDAQ First North of SEK 200 000. This guarantee is removed in 2019 after the delisting from NASDAQ First North 
September 25th, 2018. Furthermore, the company has provided security for rent with NOK 436 500. 

The company has also provided a guarantee in connection with a contract with a supplier of USD 90 000. This is secured with collateral in DNB deposits.

Number of Shares Other Shares Face Value Share Capital

Outstanding Shares January 1st, 2017 17 569 933 -7 143           3.00 52 688 370

Share Issues 560 000 3.00 1 680 000

Redemption Employee Options -

Outstanding Shares January 1st, 2018 18 129 933 -7 143           3.00  54 368 370

Share Issues -

Redemption Employee Options 50 000 3.00              150 000

Outstanding Shares December 31st, 2018 18 179 933 -7 143 3.00 54 518 370 

In May 2018, Christopher von Schirach-Szmigiel, at the time a board member of NattoPharma ASA, exercised options granted to him in the Annual General 
Meeting in 2016. In board proceedings on May 8th the Board of Directors approved the issue of 50 000 new shares, with a face value of NOK 3 per share.  The 
price per share was NOK 8.78 and the shares were registered on November 7th, 2018. The share capital was increased by NOK 150 000.

The share capital for the Group as at December 31st, 2018, is NOK 54 539 799 divided into 18 179 933 shares, each with a face value of NOK 3. In addition, the 
Company owns 7143 shares at a face value of NOK 3, valued at a total of NOK 21 429.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Accrued Costs 2 297 1 475

Mandatory Public Fees etc. 286 254

Other Short-Term Debt 703 3 539

Total 3 285 5 268

NOTE 14 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTE 15 BANK DEPOSITS

NOTE 16 SHARE CAPITAL

NOTE 17 OTHER SHORT-TERM DEBT

The age distribution of accounts receivable at the end of 2018 is as follows; 

Trade Receivables Aging Not due 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days > 91 days Total

Percentage Share 69.87% 17.30% 6.39% 0.27% 6.17% 100%
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NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Name Position Salary Other
Remuneration

Pension
Costs

Exercised 
Options

Total

Management

Daniel Rosenbaum 1) CEO - Feb 8th, 2018)                  214 214

Kjetil Ramsøy CFO, CEO Feb 8th -            2 012                      601 62 2 676

Board of Directors

Frode M. Bohan Chairman 729                           5 32                      766

Katarzyna Z. Maresz Board Member 50 50

Stefan Halldén Board Member 50 50

Annette Elmqvist Board Member 50 50

Christopher v Schirach-Szmigiel (former) Board Member 50 11 61

Election Committee

Frank Bjordal Chairman 30 30

Kim Øien Member 20 20

Total Benefits          3 547                264 94                  11 3 916

2018

2017

Benefits to the Board and senior executives. All amounts in NOK 1000.

Name Position Salary Other
Remuneration

Pension
Costs

Exercised 
Options

Total

Management

Daniel Rosenbaum CEO                 2 006 2 006 

Kjetil Ramsøy CFO 1 521 18 50               1 589 

Board of Directors

Frode M. Bohan Chairman 729 5 27 761

Katarzyna Z. Maresz Board Member 50 50

Christopher v Schirach-Szmigiel Board Member 50 50

Stefan Halldén Board Member 50 50

Annette Elmqvist Board Member 50 50

Election Committee

Frank Bjordal Chairman 30 30

Kim Øien Member 20 20

Total Benefits 4 256 273                77 -               4 606

# Shareholders Name No. of Shares Ownership as a % 
of the Total

1 Life Science Sweden AB 1) 2 182 362 12.00%

2 Pro AS 2) 1 956 310 10.76%

3 Tg Montgomery AS 3) 1 735 122 9.54%

4 Bohan & Co AS 3) 1 288 455 7.09%

5 Novel Nutrition Network Sp. Z.o.o. 673 927 3.71%

6 Synergia Life Sciences Pty Ltd 560 000 3.08%

7 Eng AS 554 508 3.05%

8 Försäkringsaktiebolaget, Avanza Pension 509 500 2.80%

9 Anssi Münz 489 323 2.69%

10 Bjerkenes, Jan Fredrik 400 000 2.20%

11 Ratusinska, Patrycja Karolina 3) 350 000 1.93%

12 Nielsen, Trygve 325 020 1.79%

13 Cinco Invest 4) 290 476 1.60%

14 AF Petersens, Carl 270 000 1.49%

15 Nordnet Bank AB 244 596 1.35%

16 Nicoline Invest AS 200 000 1.10%

17 MP Games Aktiebolag 199 643 1.10% 

18 Six Sis AG 197 218 1.08%

19 Tsambiko Holding AS 190 476 1.05%

20 Vrenne, Stein Ole 160 000 0.88%

Total Shares Top - 20 12 776 936 70.28%

Other Shareholders 5 402 997 29.72%

Total Outstanding Number of Shares 18 179 933 100.00%
1) Stefan Halldén, Board Member
2) Sjur Thorsheim, Board Member
3) Frode M. Bohan, Chairman of the Board
4) Kjetil Ramsøy, CEO

Overview of 20 largest shareholders as at December 31st, 2018:

NOTE 20 SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The company’s shares are not divided into share classes. All shares have the same right to dividend and equal voting rights.
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Transactions

Name Related Party Balance Dec 31st Revenue Purchases Interest

Bohan & Co AS Frode Bohan -150 248 150

TG Montgomery AS Frode Bohan 5 331

Tape Poland 1) Frode Bohan -8 350

Pro AS 2) Sjur Thorsheim 109

Kaydence Pharma AS 3) Associated Entity 48 963 5 273 2 852

Total 48 810 6 098 500 2 961
1) Tape Poland Sp Z.o.o. deliver IT-related services to NattoPharma. Frode Bohan is a major shareholder in Tape International AS, the parent company to  Tape Poland.
2) Pro AS is a major shareholder in NattoPharma, and owned by Board Member Sjur Thorsheim. The interest expense relates to a short-term loan in 2018
3) Kaydence Pharma AS is an associated entity created through a spin-off of the pharmaceutical business from NattoPharma in December 2017. NattoPharma ASA controls 46,41% of the shares in Phar-
maCo AS at 31st December 2018.  See more details in Note 24.

NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES CONT.

NOTE 22 NET RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Please refer to Note 24 for a summary of the transactions and balances in 2018 with significant associate Kaydence Pharma AS.
In 2017, NattoPharma ASA recognized a gain of NOK 65.6 million in the transaction with PharmaCo, later renamed Kaydence Pharma AS. Based on the 
accounting principle for non-controlling interest in equity accounted investees, only the portion of the gain related to the ownership by other investors in 
Kaydence Pharma AS has been recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income. This amounted to NOK 35.6 million. The remaining amount, NOK 30.0 
million, was partly netted against the book value of the investment, NOK 8.0 million and partly reported as a long-term liability related to deferred income 
on the sale of the business, NOK 22.0 million. 

The operating expense related to the discontinued operations in 2017 was NOK 8.4 million. Result from discontinued operations in 2017 is hence a profit 
of NOK 27.1 million.

NOTE 23 GOING CONCERN

The Board refers to that the company’s balance sheet shows a positive equity of NOK 109.7 million as at December 31st, 2018. Through 2018, the company 
has implemented many profitability improvement measures, as well as improved position on investing in working capital. Given the company’s positive 
development in 2018, the Board considers that the company’s financial position is satisfactory and the accounts for 2018 have been prepared on the basis 
of continued operations.

Name Position No. of Shares Ownership Share Options

Frode M. Bohan 1) Chairman 3 373 577 18.56% 200 000

Kjetil Ramsøy 2) CEO/CFO 290 476 1.60% 125 100

Stefan Hallden 3) Board Member 83 800 0.46% 100 000

Sjur Thorsheim Board Member 1 956 310 10.76% 0

Katarzyna Z. Maresz Board Member 25 000 0.14% 100 000

Annette Elmqvist Board Member 0 0.00% 100 000

Total 5 729 163 31.51% 625 100
1) Shares indirectly owned by Bohan & Co. AS, TG Montgomery AS, and Patrycia Ratusinska.
2) Shares indirectly owned by Cinco Invest AS.
3) Shares indirectly owned by Pro AS.

In 2018, the company had the following management team:

• Frode M. Bohan, Working Chairman
• Daniel Rosenbaum, CEO (CEO until 8th February 2018)
• Kjetil Ramsøy, CFO (CEO and CFO from 8th February 2018)

Pursuant to Section 6-16 a) of the Public Limited Liability Companies 
Act, cf. Section 5-6, third paragraph, the General Assembly shall consid-
er the Board’s remuneration guidelines for the coming year.

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining 
the remuneration of the CEO and the CEO is in consultation with the 
Board again responsible for determining the remuneration of senior 
executives.

The main principles for executive remuneration policy and remunera-
tion in the financial year 2018 have been as follows:

COMPENSATION MUST BE COMPETITIVE, NOT MARKET LEADING
Managerial salaries, as a general guideline, should be suitable for at-
tracting and retaining skilled executives in order to increase value cre-
ation in the company and contribute to combined interests between 
management and shareholders. Total remuneration shall generally be 
at the level of remuneration to senior executives in comparable indus-
tries, companies and positions in the country in which the individual 
leader is located.

COMPENSATION MUST BE MOTIVATING
The managerial salary should be structured to drive motivation and 
encourage improvements in results and shareholder values. In gener-
al, remuneration can consist of five elements: basic salary, short-term 
incentives (bonus), long-term incentives (options), benefits and retire-
ment benefits.

The variable remuneration, short and long term, should be linked to 
value creation for shareholders over time. The variable remuneration 
shall be determined both on the basis of individual and company-re-
lated goals.

The long-term incentives are option-based and in accordance with the 
current option program approved by the General Assembly.

COMPENSATION SHOULD BE FLEXIBLE, TO ALLOW ADJUSTMENTS 
OVER TIME
In order to offer competitive pay, the company must have a flexible 
system that can accommodate changes as the company and markets 
develop.

PRINCIPLES OF BENEFITS GIVEN IN ADDITION TO THE BASIC SALARY
Basic salary is the main element of remuneration for senior executives. 
Other and variable remuneration is, at the time of grant, subject to the 
determination of special maximum amounts, depending on the posi-
tion of each employee.

The following refers to the individual benefits given in addition to the 
basic salary. Unless specifically mentioned, there are no special terms, 
limits or award criteria for the mentioned remuneration.

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE/BONUS SCHEME
The company has established a bonus scheme for senior executives. 
The bonus scheme is implemented and assessed at least annually. The 
bonus scheme is linked to achieving operational and financial goals for 
the company set by the board, as well as achieving personal develop-
ment goals for each employee.

PENSION SCHEMES AND INSURANCE
Leading employees participate in the company’s pension scheme, 
which is a defined contribution scheme which involves payment of 
between 3.5% and 6.5% of the employee’s salary, up to a maximum 
of 12 times the basic amount (G) in the Norwegian National Insurance 
Scheme (Folketrygden). NattoPharma has established pension cover 
for employees with salary higher than 12 G. The pension obligations 
also include disability.

SEVERANCE SCHEMES
In order to attract and/or retain a manager or other resource persons, 
the company may enter into final agreements where employees or 
consultants are entitled to continue to receive their salary / allowance 
for up to 12 months after the expiration of the employment contract. 
Labour income during this period may in its entirety be calculated 
against his or her continued salary/remuneration during the period in 
which he continues to receive salary/remuneration.

FRINGE BENEFITS
Leading employees will normally be given natural benefits that are 
common market practices, i.e. phone expenses, a laptop, free broad-
band connection and use, newspapers and car payments. There are no 
special restrictions on what other benefits can be agreed upon.

LOANS AND GUARANTEES
attract and/or retain a manager. No special limitations have been de-
cided on the type of benefits that can be agreed upon.

OTHER BENEFITS
Other variable items may be used in the remuneration or assigned dif-
ferent separate benefits than those mentioned above, provided that 
this is considered appropriate to attract and/or retain a manager. No 
special limitations have been decided on the type of benefits that can 
be agreed upon.

OTHER CONDITIONS
The management group in Norway participates in a pension and insur-
ance scheme through DNB Livsforsikring AS.

Kjetil Ramsøy has a contractual salary of 9 months from the closing 
date in cases where the board elects to terminate the agreement. Any 
notice period under the law or regulation is included in the agreement 
periods.

Shares controlled directly and indirectly by board members and senior 
executives as at December 31st, 2018.

NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES CONT.
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Revenue 1 457

Profit from Continued Operations -

Post-Tax Profit for Discontinued Operations -

Other Income and Expenses -16 985 

Comprehensive Income -

The Groups Share of Comprehensive Income -15 528 

Current Assets 6 288 

Non-Current Assets 65 500 

Current Liabilities - 5 117 

Non-Current Liabilities -46 025 

Equity 36 174 

DESCRIPTION OF THE ACTIVITIES OF SIGNFICANT ASSOCIATE
Kaydence Pharma AS has its headquarter at Lysaker outside Oslo, Norway, and the company’s main activity is to develop a pharmaceutical drug based on 
Vitamin K2.

Kaydence Pharma AS has a long-term liability to NattoPharma ASA per December 31st, 2018 of NOK 46.03 million (2017: 57.50 million), which is represent-
ing a seller’s credit for the acquisition of the pharma business in December 2017. The change from 2017 to 2018 relates to conversion of debt to equity 
and payback of loan. According to the Loan Agreement between NattoPharma ASA and Kaydence Pharma, the credit expires within 7 years from date of 
payment and the liability should be repaid over 6 yearly instalments starting at the second anniversary date for the loan agreement. PharmaCo will have 
the obligation to perform early repayments in the event of capital injections to the company where NattoPharma will be entitled to 20% of the proceeds, 
limited to NOK 10 million per event until the whole loan balance is repaid.

NOTE 25 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Due to the ongoing ramp-up of supply the parent Company entered into a short-term loan agreement in January 2019 to manage a commitment for deliv-
ery of additional raw material. Then loan is given at an interest rate of 6% per year, and matures January 7th, 2020, when the principal amount and interest 
is due for repayment.

There are no other significant events after the balance sheet date that is not taken into account in the information presented in this report.

NOTE 24 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES CONT.

NattoPharma sold the pharma business to PharmaCo AS (later renamed to Kaydence Pharma AS) in a transaction that was signed on December 15th, 2017 
and was effective from December 27th, 2017 after completion of several closing conditions related to the transaction. 

Kaydence Pharma AS has a long-term liability to NattoPharma ASA per December 31st, 2018 of NOK 46.03 million, which is representing a seller’s credit for 
the acquisition of the pharma business. According to the Loan Agreement between NattoPharma ASA and Kaydence Pharma AS, the credit expires within 
7 years from date of payment and the liability should be repaid over 6 yearly instalments starting at the second anniversary date for the loan agreement. 
Kaydence Pharma AS will have the obligation to perform early repayments in the event of capital injections to the Company where NattoPharma will be 
entitled to 20% of the net proceeds, limited to NOK 10 million per event until the whole loan balance is repaid.

In the second half of 2018, Kaydence Pharma closed a shared issue of approximately NOK 10 million. NattoPharma converted a similar amount of the out-
standing seller’s credit to maintain its ownership, which now stands at 46.41%, up from 45.85%. NOK 1.5 million of the loan balance was repaid. 

Through the ownership in Kaydence Pharma AS, NattoPharma holds a significant influence in the company but are not in control. Based on an overall 
assessment where size and complexity are taken into account, Kaydence Pharma AS is considered to be significant associate. The investment is recognized 
using the equity method, and due to a deferred gain on the initial transaction, the investment currently holds zero book-value in the consolidated accounts. 
The deferred gain is booked net of the initial investment and is recognized in the balance sheet as a liability of NOK 12 million.

In conjunction with the implementation of the new accounting standard, IFRS 9, the loan receivable to Kaydence Pharma AS has been tested for potential 
impairment, and management has assessed the risk to be limited. A general 10% impairment was recognized in the opening balance of 2018, and Natto-
Pharma has decided to maintain the impairment at the same nominal value as at December 31st, 2018.

Below is a schedule on the gross value balance sheet items (before impairment and capitalization, without accrued loan interest.)

Amounts in NOK 1000 Long-Term Loan Investment Deferred Revenue Total

Gross Value January 1st, 2017 0 0 0 0

Acquisition Kaydence Pharma AS 0 30 0 30

Spin-Off Kaydence Pharma AS 65 500 0 -30 032 35 468

Debt Conversion Q4 2017 -8 000 8 000 0 0

Gross Value December 31st, 2017 57 500 8 030 -30 032 35 498

Debt Conversion Q4 2018 -9 975 9 975 0 0

Loan Repayment -1 500 0 0 -1 500

Gross Value December 31st, 2018 46 025 18 005 -30 032 33 998

Below is a schedule on the recorded assets and liabilities, on a net basis, without accrued loan interest:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Long-Term Loan Investment Deferred Revenue Total

Book (Net) Value January 1st, 2017 0 0 0 0

Acquisition Kaydence Pharma AS 0 30 0 30

Spin-Off Kaydence Pharma AS 65 500 0 -30 032 35 468

Debt Conversion Q4 2017 -8 000 8 000 0 0

Netting of investment/Deferred Revenue 0 -8 030 8 030 0

Book (Net) Value December 31st, 2017 57 500 0 -22 002 35 498

IFRS 9 Opening Balance Adjustment -5 750 0 0 -5 750

Debt Conversion Q4 2018 -9 975 9 975 0 0

Netting of Investment/Deferred Revenue 0 -9 975 9 975 0

Loan Repayment -1 500 0 0 -1 500

Book (Net) Value December 31st, 2018 40 275 0 -12 027 28 248

NOTE 24 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

NattoPharma ASA has the following investments in associates:

Entity Country Industry Ownership Interest

Kaydence Pharma AS Norway Pharma 46.41%
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Revenue

Operating Revenue 4 54 317 46 179

Other Revenue 4 15 737 5 489

Total Operating and Other Revenue 70 054 51 669

Operating Expenses

Cost of Goods Sold -44 646 -32 107

Personnel Cost 5 -15 339 -11 318

Depriciation and Amortisation 10, 11 -625 -620

Other Operating Expenses 7 -13 873 -13 673

Total Operating Expenses -74 482 -57 719

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) -4 429 -6 050

Financial Items

Interest Income 3 882 1 135

Interest Expense -189 -19

Other Financial Income and Expense 61 941

Net Financial Items 3 755 2 058

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) -674 -3 992

Income Tax Expense 8 0 0

Profit/(Loss) from Continued Operations -674 -3 992

Result from Discontinued Operations (After Tax) 0 58 653

Net Profit/(Loss) -674 54 661

Basic Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 9 -0.04 -0.23

Diluted Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 9 -0.04 -0.23

Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations 9 -0.04 3.10

Diluted Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations 9 -0.04 2.94

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Net Profit/(Loss) -674 54 661

Translation Difference 0 0

Total Other Comprehensive Income -674 54 661

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year -674 54 661

STATEMENT OF INCOME

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Assets

Noncurrent Assets

Intangible Assets

Patents and Other Rights 10 707 198

Other Intangible Assets 10 4 326 1 411

Total Intangible Assets 5 033 1 610

Tangible Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 11 109 126

Total Tangible Assets 109 126

Financial Assets

Investment in Subsidiaries 12 54 513 54 682

Investment in Associates 12, 24 18 005 8 030

Other Long Term Receivables 24 40 275 57 500

Long Term Receivables from Subsidiaries 14 24 356 18 100

Total Financial Assets 137 150 138 312

Total Non-Current Assets 142 291 140 048

Current Assets

Inventory 13 1 632 4 627

Trade Receivables 14 15 775 16 789

Other Receivables 14 6 925 6 122

Cash & Cash Equivalents 15 6 959 10 227

Total Current Assets 31 291 37 765

Total Assets 173 583 177 814

ASSETS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) -674 54 661

Depreciation and Amortisation 10, 11 625 620

Non-Cash Items from Sale of Pharma Business 22, 24 0 -65 500

Other Non-Cash Items 6 1 582 2 511

Changes in Working Capital Items

Inventory 13 2 995 -4 014

Trade Receivables 14 6 381 4 380

Trade Payables 1 611 -259

Other Current Items -13 687 -2 295

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities -1 166 -9 897

Cash Flow from Investment Activities

Investment in Property, Plant and Equipment 11 -111 -93

Investment in Intangible Assets 10 -3 919 -750

Proceeds from Long-Term Loan 1 500 0

Investment in Associate 24 -30

Net Cash Flows from Investment Activities -2 530 -873

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Share Issue/Transaction Costs 16 429 6 939

Net Cash Flow from Financial Activities 429 6 939

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents -3 268 -3 832

Foreign Currency Effect 0 0

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per January 1st 10 227 14 059

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per December 31st 6 959 10 227

Amounts in NOK 1000 Share capital Own Shares Share Premium Accumulated 
Loss

Translation 
Adjustment

Total 
Equity

Equity as per January 1st, 2017 52 709 -21 113 087 -62 870 0 102 905

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period 54 661 0 54 661

Equity Based Remuneration 1 293 1 293

Share Issue Including Transaction Costs 1 680 5 259 6 939

Equity as per December 31st, 2017 54 389 -21 118 346 -6 917 0 165 798

Equity as per January 1st, 2018 54 389 -21 118 346 -6 917 0 165 798

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period -674 0 -674

Equity Based Remuneration 1 582 1 582

Effect from Implementation of IFRS 9 -5 750 -5 750

Share Issue Including Transaction Costs 150 279 429

Equity as per December 31st, 2018 54 539 -21 118 625 -11 758 0 161 385

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Frode M. Bohan
Chairman

Oslo, April 29th, 2019

Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA

Stefan Halldên
Board Member

Sjur Thorsheim
Board Member

Katarzyna Maresz
Board Member

Annette Elmqvist 
Board Member

Kjetil Ramsøy
NattoPharma CEO

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2018 2017

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share Capital 16 54 518 54 368

Share Premium Reserve 118 625 118 346

Accumulated Loss -11 758 -6 917

Total Equity 161 385 165 798

Current Liabilities

Trade Payables 10 041 8 430

Other Current Liabilities 17 2 156 3 586

Total Current Liabilities 12 197 12 016

Total Liabilities 12 197 12 016

Total Equity and Liabilities 173 583 177 814

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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Amount in NOK 1.000 2018 2017

Salary Cost 12 003 8 096 

Employer Tax Cost 1 082 1 000

Employee Related Insurance 293 295

Remuneration to the Board and Election Committee 250 241 

Share and Option Cost 1 582 1 293

Other Personnel Cost 129 393

Total Personnel Cost 15 339 11 318 

Number of Man-Years 7 7

NOTE 5 SALARY, PERSONNEL COSTS AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Amount in NOK 1000 2018 2017

External Recharges of Personnel Cost 1 516 1 118

External Recharges of Other OpEx 1 419 80 

Intercompany Revenue 12 803 4 291 

Total Other Revenue 15 737 5 489 

NOTE 4 OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE CONT.

Specification of salary and remuneration to senior executives is discussed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The company is required to have a compulsory pension plan in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Compulsory Occupational Pensions (“Compulsory 
Occupational Pensions Act”). The company has signed a defined contribution pension agreement with Storebrand Livsforsikring AS, which goes beyond 
the requirements of this Act. The agreement is based on a premium payment of 3.5% for income between 1G and 7.1G (G = 96 883) and 6.5% of income 
between 7.1 and 12G. The scheme includes a disability insurance. In addition, a group life scheme has been agreed based on a replacement equivalent to 
15G at death. Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, the Board has prepared a statement on the determination of salary and other 
remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives.

NOTE 6 SHARE BASED REMUNERATION

See Note 6 in the consolidated financial statements for information.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Property Expenses 968 963

Travel Cost 1 169 967

Sales and Marketing Cost 958 979

Audit, Legal and Accounting Expenses 1 402 1 697

Research and Development Cost 7 128 7 231 

Other Operating Costs 2 247 1 836

Total Other Operating Expenses 13 873 13 673 

NOTE 7 SPECIFICATION OF OTHER OPERATING COSTS

The company is a publicly traded public limited company established 
in 2004, and the head office has at Lilleakerveien 2B, Oslo, as of De-
cember 31st, 2018. The product is the MenaQ7® brand, which is based 
on a substance Menaquinone-7, the natural vitamin K2 as well as a 
synthetically manufactured product that is developed and ready for 
commercial production from the last quarter of 2016.

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The annual accounts have been prepared for the company for 2018 
with comparative figures for 2017 for the profit and loss account, the 
balance sheet, the comprehensive income, the cash flow statement 
and the change in equity for the company. These principles have been 
applied consistently throughout all periods presented, unless other-
wise stated in the description.

2.1 – BASIS FOR ACCOUNTING PREPARATION
The company accounts of NattoPharma ASA have been prepared in ac-
cordance with EU-approved IFRSs and related interpretations, as well 
as the additional Norwegian disclosure requirements that follow from 
the Accounting Act, Stock Exchange Regulations and Stock Exchange 
Rules, which will be applied as at December 31st, 2018. The accounts 
have been prepared based on historical cost, with the exception of 
financial derivatives that are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss.

The company’s shares were listed on Oslo Børs’ list Oslo Axess per. Jan-
uary 30th, 2008. The company was delisted from NASDAQ First North in 
Stockholm on September 25th, 2018.

The accounts were approved by the Board on April 29th, 2019.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Amount in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Europe 14 752 17 666

Rest of the World 4 265 2 502

Intercompany Revenue (NattoPharma USA Inc.) 35 300 26 011 

Total Operating Revenue 54 317 46 179 

NOTE 4 OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE

Changes in accounting principles due to new or amended standards 
are performed retroactively unless otherwise specifically determined 
by a current standard. Recurring effect requires that results from previ-
ous periods and opening balance for such period have been restated.

2.2 - SUBSIDIARIES
As of December 31st, 2018, NattoPharma has two subsidiaries, Natto-
Pharma USA, Inc. located in the United States and NattoPharma R&D 
Ltd, which is registered in Cyprus.

Subsidiaries are recorded at historical cost value in the company ac-
counts. Otherwise, see Note 2 and Note 3 in the consolidated financial 
statements for the company’s other important accounting principles.

NOTE 3 IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND DISCRETIONARY ASSESSMENT

Please see Note 3 in the consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING REVENUE
The table below show Operating Revenue broken down by the geographical areas where the Group sells its goods. The company’s operations are primarly 
located in Norway and Poland.

Sale of products between companies in the Group are carried out based on a cost plus method and in accordance with the arm’s length principle.

OTHER REVENUE
Activities that are not allocated to Operating Revenue are presented as Other Revenue. For 2018, it primarly involves recharges to Kaydence Pharma AS 
for services provided and some other shared expenses and projects. For 2017, the revenue also includes services provided to, and shared fees with, Eqolo-
gy AS and TG Montgomery AS. 

Other Revenue also includes allocation of Operating Expenses within the Group. Operating Expenses are allocated between the entities in the Group 
based partly on External Operating Revenue in the entities and partly on a functional analysis of which entity should incur the expenses.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Ordinary earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual result of the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
less own shares held as of December 31st, 2018.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Annual Result Including Discontinued Operations -674 54 661

Profit from Continued Operations -674 -3 992

Weighted Average Number of Shares Issued 18 137 17 613

Weighted Average Number of Shares Diluted 19 038 18 594

Basic Earnings per Share from Continued Operations -0.04 -0.23

Diluted Earnings per Share from Continued Operations -0.04 -0.23

Basic Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations -0.04 3.10

Diluted Earnings per Share Including Discontinued Operations -0.04 2.94

See also Note 16 (Share Capital).

NOTE 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Amounts in NOK 1000 Software Acquired Rights Patents Assets Under 
Construction

Total Other
Intangible Assets

Aquisition Cost January 1st, 2017 1 189 1 099 1 798 0 4 086

Acquisitions 539 211 750

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Aquisition Cost January 1st, 2018 1 728 1 310 1 798 0 4 836

Acquisitions 476 598 2 845 3 919

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Aquisition Cost December 31st, 2018 2 204 1 908 1 798 2 845 8 755

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2017 0 953 1 688 0 2 641

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 317 159 110 586

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2018 317 1 112 1 798 0 3 227

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 407 89 496

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2018 724 1 201 1 798 0 3 723

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2018 1 480 707 0 2 845 5 033

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2017 1 411 198 0 0 1 610

NOTE 10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The company uses linear depreciation for all intangible assets.

The economic life is intended for:
• Patent 1     10 years
• Patent 2 + 3    11 years
• Patent 4 (purchased)    2.5 years
• Purchased synthetic K2 technology  10 years

The company has used regular reviews about the duration of a patent. Normally, the life of a patent is estimated to be 15 years from the time a patent is reg-
istered. For purchased patents in 2006, the remaining life is then estimated to be 9 and 10 years. Patents purchased in December 2012 will be depreciated 
over the remaining lifetime of 1.5 years. This is also the basis for depreciation. 

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Balance Gain/Loss Account -9 222 -12 576 

Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets -596 535

Inventory - -

Accounting Provisions - -

Other - -

Loss to be Carried Forward 38 712 41 805 

Total 28 894 29 764 

Tax effects of temporary differences:

The following table shows a reconciliation between expected tax based on profit before tax and nominal tax rate and actual tax expense/(income):

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Result Before Taxes           -674        54 661

Nominal Tax Rate 23% 24%

Expected Tax Expense -155 13 119 

Tax Effect on Non-Deductible Expenses 29 1

Tax Effect of SkatteFunn -319 -826

Change in Unrecognized Deferred Tax Asset -866 -13 884 

Impact of Changes in Tax Rules and Rates                1 314 1 294

Transaction Costs Charged to Equity -2 -

Other -                    296

Taxes for the Year/(Income) 0 0

Effective Tax Rate 0% 0%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Tax Payable - -

Change Deferred Tax - -

Total Tax Income 0 0

Due to several years of operating losses, the company has elected not to capitalize its deferred tax assets.

Tax expense for the year:

NOTE 8 TAX

Specification of remuneration to the auditor:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Statutory Audit 345 321

Tax Advice 101 16

Other Services 185 149

Total Remuneration to the Auditor 631 486

NOTE 7 SPECIFICATION OF OTHER OPERATING COSTS CONT.
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Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

External Trade Receivables 1 151                       2 720

Group Trade Receivables 14 624                     14 069

VAT, SkatteFunn, etc.                 2 825                       4 560

Prepayments                    971                         639

Other Receivables                 3 129                         923

Total Trade and Other Current Receivables        22 700            22 911

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31st, 2018 includes payroll tax deductions of NOK 315 200 (2017: NOK 255 000) and a deposit account for costs 
associated with the company’s listing on NASDAQ First North of SEK 200 000. This guarantee is removed in 2019 after the delisting from NASDAQ First North 
September 25th, 2018. Furthermore, the company has provided security for rent with NOK 436 500. 

The company has also provided a guarantee in connection with a contract with a supplier of USD 90 000. This is secured with collateral in DNB deposits.

Number of Shares Own Shares Face Value Share Capital

Outstanding Shares January 1st, 2017  17 569 933 -7 143           3.00 52 688 370

Share Issues             560 000 3.00           1 680 000

Redemption Employee Options -

Outstanding Shares December 31st, 2017 18 129 933 -7 143 3.00 54 368 370 

Share Issues -

Redemption Employee Options             50 000 3.00 150 000

Outstanding Shares December 31st, 2018  18 179 933 -7 143 3.00   54 518 370

Reference is made to Note 16 in the consolidated accounts.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Accrued Costs 1 168 2 721

Mandatory Public Fees, etc. 286 254

Other Short-Term Debt 703 611

Total 2 156 3 586

NOTE 14 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTE 15 BANK DEPOSITS

NOTE 16 SHARE CAPITAL

NOTE 17 OTHER SHORT-TERM DEBT

For disclosure of NattoPharma’s credit risk and handling, see Note 18 in the consolidated financial statements.

The company has the following non-current claims on group companies at the end of 2018:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Long Term Receivables from Subsidiaries              24 356 18 100

Total 24 356            18 100

Amounts in NOK 1000 Hardware Refurbishment
Rented Offices

Total 
Fixed Assets

Aquisition Cost January 1st, 2017 32 69 101

Aquisitions 93 93

Disposals 0

Aquisition Cost January 1st, 2018 32 162 194

Aquisitions 111 0 111

Disposals 0

Aquisition Cost December 31st, 2018 143 162 305

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2017 32 1 33

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 35 35

Disposals 0

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2018 32 36 68

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 87 42 129

Disposals 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2018 119 78 197

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2018 24 84 109

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2017 0 126 126

Amounts in NOK 1000 Cost Price Booked Value Ownership

NattoPharma USA, Inc., NJ, USA 2 873 2 873 100%

NattoPharma R&D Ldt., Cyprus 51 640 51 640 100%

Kaydence Pharma AS (Associate) 18 005 18 005 46.41%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Finished Goods       1 632                       4 627

Total 1 632                       4 627

Inventory is booked at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

The company uses straight-line depreciation for all tangible fixed assets.

The economic life of the assets is calculated as:
• Computer equipment   linear 3 years
• Fixtures    linear 5 years

NOTE 11 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

NOTE 12 SUBSIDIARIES/ASSOCIATE

NOTE 13 INVENTORY
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NOTE 23 GOING CONCERN

The Board refers to that the company’s balance sheet shows a positive equity of NOK 161.4 million per December 31st, 2018. Through 2018, the company 
has implemented many profitability improvement measures, as well as improved position on investing in working capital. Given the company’s positive 
development in 2018, the Board considers that the company’s financial position is satisfactory and the accounts for 2018 have been prepared on the basis 
of continued operations.

NOTE 24 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Entity Country Industry Ownership Interest

Kaydence Pharma AS Norway Pharma 46.41%

Please find more information on the Kaydence Pharma background in Note 2 and Note 24 in the consolidated accounts. 

The associate is recognized using the equity method. Based on an overall assessment where size and complexity are taken into account, PharmaCo AS is 
considered to be significant associate. Further information regarding the company is disclosed below.

Long-Term Loan Investment Total

Book (Net) Value January 1st, 2017 0 0 0

Acquisition Kaydence Pharma AS 0 30 30

Spin off Kaydence Pharma AS 65 500 0 65 500

Debt Conversion Q4 2017 -8 000 8 000 0

Book (Net) Value December 31st, 2017 57 500 8 030 65 530

IFRS 9 Opening Balance Adjustment -5 750 0 -5 750

Debt Conversion Q4 2018 -9 975 9 975 0

Loan Repayment -1 500 0 -1 500

Book (Net) Value December 31st, 2018 40 275 18 005 58 280

DESCRIPTION OF THE ACTIVITIES OF SIGNFICANT ASSOCIATE
Kaydence Pharma AS has its headquarter at Lysaker outside Oslo, Norway, and the company’s main activity is to develop a pharmaceutical drug based on 
Vitamin K2.

Revenue 1 457

Other Income and Expenses -16 985 

Comprehensive Income -

The Groups Share of Comprehensive Income -15 528 

Current Assets                    6 288

Non-Current Assets 65 500

Current Liabilities                  - 5 117 

Non-Current Liabilities -46 025 

Equity 36 174 

Kaydence Pharma AS has a long-term liability to NattoPharma ASA per December 31st, 2018 of NOK 46.03 million (2017: 57.50 million), which is represent-
ing a seller’s credit for the acquisition of the pharma business in December 2017. The change from 2017 to 2018 relates to conversion of debt to equity 
and payback of loan. According to the Loan Agreement between NattoPharma ASA and Kaydence Pharma, the credit expires within 7 years from date of 
payment and the liability should be repaid over 6 yearly instalments starting at the second anniversary date for the loan agreement. PharmaCo will have 
the obligation to perform early repayments in the event of capital injections to the company where NattoPharma will be entitled to 20% of the proceeds, 
limited to NOK 10 million per event until the whole loan balance is repaid.  

NattoPharma ASA has the following investments in associates:

The company is exposed to various types of financial risk, all of which coincide with the group as a whole. For more detailed information about the different 
financial risks, see Note 18 in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 18 FINANCIAL RISK

Non-capitalized liabilities consist primarily of leases of office premises at Lilleaker in Oslo, which were entered into in 2016 and expire in January 2022. The 
rental price is adjusted upwards with the consumer price index annually, first January 1st, 2018. The company recorded NOK 755 000 in total rental costs for 
its premises in Norway in 2017 (NOK 431 000 in 2016).

Reference is made to Note 20 in the consolidated accounts for 2018.

NOTE 19 NON-CAPITALIZED LIABILITIES

NOTE 22 NET RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

NOTE 17 OTHER SHORT-TERM DEBT CONT.

The company has no debts to group companies at the end of 2018.

Specification of contractual lease obligations, including joint costs, in nominal values:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Less than one Year                    939                    708

More than one Year, but Less than Five Years                 1 775 2 477

Total          2 714 3 185

NOTE 20 SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Reference is made to Note 21 in the consolidated accounts for 2018.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Gain on Sale of Pharma Business - 65 500

Personnel Cost - -1 550

Other Operating Expenses - -5 297

Result from Discontinued Operations 0 58 653

Please refer to Note 2.22 in the consolidated financial statements for an assessment of the impact of implementation of IFRS 16. 

Non-capitalized liabilities in 2018 consist primarily of leases of office premises at Lilleaker in Oslo. The lease in Oslo were entered into in 2016 and expire in 
January 2022. The rental price is adjusted upwards with the consumer price index annually. 

The company recorded NOK 968 104 in total rental costs for its premises in Norway (NOK 963 062 in 2017). This includes other property expenses, such as 
cleaning services, electricity and internet services.

Specification of contractual lease obligations, including joint costs, in nominal values: 
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The financial information for the NattoPharma Group is prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In addition to the 
ordinary financial performance measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, management believes that alternative performance measures (APM) which are 
not defined in any IFRS standards, provide additional information which is useful to both management and shareholders in enhancing the understanding 
of the Group’s performance.  

NattoPharma use the following APMs:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Revenue

Operating Revenue 101 722 66 418

Other Revenue 5 519 1 306 

Less Recharges of OpEx -5 367 -1 306

Total Revenue/Product Revenue (Adj.) 101 874 66 418 

Cost of Goods Sold -57 978 -35 013

Total Cost of Goods Sold -57 978 -35 013

Gross Profit 43 896 31 405 

Gross Margin 43.1% 47.3%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Operating Expenses

Personnel Cost -28 433 -19 652 

Less Recharges 3 875 1 118 

Less Non-Cash Cost for Options Program 1 582 2 511

Total Adjusted Personnel Cost -22 976 -16 023

Other Operating Expenses -15 760 -10 301

Less Recharges 1 492 188

Total Adjusted Other Operating Expenses -14 268 -10 113 

Total Adjusted Operating Expenses -37 244 -26 136 

As a % of Operating Revenue 36.6% 39.4%

Product Revenue and Gross Profit
NattoPharma’s main source of Revenue is sale of products. Other Revenue as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Income are largely related to re-
charges of personnel cost and other operating expenses to Kaydence Pharma AS. Hence, the most useful and reliable way to measure NattoPharma’s sales 
development is by evaluating Product Revenues.

The Gross Profit Margin is the product sales revenue less the cost of goods sold, so the residual profit after selling a product and subtracting the costs asso-
ciated with its production and sale.

Operating Expenses
NattoPharma use an APM on Operating Expenses due to the re-charges to Kaydence Pharma AS presented on a gross basis under Other Revenue, offset on 
Personnel Cost and Other Operating Expenses. Non-cash cost for options and shares are also adjusted in this APM. This is the most useful and reliable APM 
for NattoPharma as it shows the underlying operational development in expenses, and which is comparable between periods.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURESNOTE 25 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Due to the ongoing ramp-up of supply the parent Company entered into a short-term loan agreement in January 2019 to manage a commitment for deliv-
ery of additional raw material. See Note 25 to the Consolidated Account for further information about this loan. 

There are no other significant events after the balance sheet date that is not taken into account in the information presented in this report.
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EBITDA (Adjusted)
EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization and measures profitability before the impact of financing methods, in-
come taxes, depreciation of capital assets and amortization of intangible assets. Adjusted EBITDA is used to evaluate profitability from operating business 
activities and so excludes the non-cash cost related to the options program. EBITDA is the closest APM to cash flow in the Group. The Group has no long-
term debt or other financial instruments significantly impacting net cash flow. In the current stage of significant revenue growth, cash generation is pivotal 
to support future growth, hence the use of this APM.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2018 2017

Total Operating and Other Revenue 107 241 67 724 

Cost of Goods Sold -57 978 -35 013 

Personnel Cost -28 433 -19 652 

Other Operating Expenses -15 760 -10 301 

Less Non-Cash Cost for Options Program 1 582 2 511 

EBITDA (Adj.) 6 652 5 269 

As a % of Operating Revenue 6.5% 7.9%
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To the General Meeting of Nattopharma ASA 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Nattopharma ASA, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Nattopharma ASA (the Company), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the income statement, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Nattopharma ASA and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 
• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

The key audit matters identified in our audit are:  
- Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets  
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Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 

As disclosed in note 3 and 10, the Group has 
recognized goodwill of NOK 7,507 thousand and 
intangible assets of NOK 34,562 thousand.  
 
Goodwill and intangible assets relates to the 
acquisition of Nattopharma R&D Ltd in 2013.  
 
Intangible assets are assessed for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period if impairment 
indicators are identified. In addition, goodwill is 
assessed annually for impairment using a value-
in-use basis. 
 
To assess recoverability of these non-current 
assets, management must make assumptions 
about future revenues, discount rates as well as 
future operating costs. 
 
Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in the 
forecasting and discounting of future cash flows, 
and the level of management judgement 
involved, this has been identified as a key audit 
matter.  
 
 
 

We assessed Nattopharma’s impairment process and 
tested design and implementation of relevant controls 
established related to the estimates and judgements.  
 
We obtained the valuation model and challenged 
management’s key assumptions used in the impairment 
model. In particular;  
  

 the growth rate in revenues; 
 the future operating costs and margins; and 
 the discount rate used 

 
We validated the mathematical accuracy of cash flow 
models.  
 
We also considered the disclosures provided by the Group 
in relation to the impairment testing.  
 

 
 

Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (Management) are responsible for the 
preparation in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report and the statements on Corporate Governance and Corporate 
Social Responsibility 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on Corporate Governance 
and Corporate Social Responsibility concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption 
and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial statements and complies with 
the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 
3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is 
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration 
and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and 
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
Oslo, 29 April 2019 
Deloitte AS 
 
 

 
 
Espen Johansen 
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway) 


